Beyond \mathcal{PT} -symmetry: Towards a symmetry-metric relation for time-dependent non-Hermitian Hamiltonians

Luís F. Alves da Silva, Rodrigo A. Dourado and Miled H. Y. Moussa

Instituto de Física de São Carlos, Universidade de São Paulo, P.O. Box 369, São Carlos, 13560-970, SP, Brazil

Abstract

In this work we first propose a method for the derivation of a general continuous antilinear time-dependent (TD) symmetry operator I(t) for a TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonian H(t). Assuming H(t) to be simultaneously $\rho(t)$ -pseudo-Hermitian and $\Xi(t)$ -antipseudo-Hermitian, we also derive the antilinear symmetry $I(t) = \Xi^{-1}(t)\rho(t)$, which retrieves an important result obtained by Mostafazadeh [J. Math, Phys. 43, 3944 (2002)] for the time-independent (TI) scenario. We apply our method for the derivation of the symmetries associated with TD non-Hermitian linear and quadratic Hamiltonians. The computed TD symmetry operators for both cases are then particularized for their equivalent TI Hamiltonians and \mathcal{PT} -symmetric restrictions. In the TI scenario we retrieve the well-known Bender-Berry-Mandilara result for the symmetry operator: $I^{2k} = 1$ with k odd [J. Phys. A 35, L467 (2002)]. The results here derived allow us to propose a useful symmetry-metric relation for TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonians. From this relation the TD metric is automatically derived from the TD symmetry of the problem. Then, when placed in perspective with the antilinear symmetry $I(t) = \Xi^{-1}(t)\rho(t)$, the symmetrymetric relation finally allow us to derive the $\Xi(t)$ -anti-pseudo-Hermitian operator. Our results reinforce the prospects of going beyond \mathcal{PT} -symmetric quantum mechanics making the field of pseudo-Hermiticity even more comprehensive and promising.

Copyright L. F. Alves da Silva et al.	Received 11-10-2021	
This work is licensed under the Creative Commons	Accepted 31-01-2022	
Attribution 4.0 International License.	Published 14-03-2022	Check for updates
Published by the SciPost Foundation.	doi:10.21468/SciPostPhysCore.5.	.1.012

Contents

1	Introduction	2		
2	2 Pseudo-Hermiticity for TD and TI non-Hermitian Hamiltonians			
3	A Method for the construction of a general TD symmetry operator	6		
4	The antilinear symmetry described by a couple of linear and antilinear metric			
	operators	7		
5	The TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonian of a cavity field under linear amplification	8		
	5.1 The TD antilinear symmetry operator	8		
	5.2 The Dyson map and pseudo-Hermiticity relation	10		
	5.3 From $I(t)$ in Eq. (30) to \mathcal{PT}	11		

6	The	TI non-Hermitian Hamiltonian of a cavity field under linear amplification	11
	6.1	The TI antilinear symmetry operator	11
		6.1.1 Bender-Berry-Mandilara	13
	6.2	Dyson map and pseudo-Hermiticity	13
	6.3	From I in Eq. (47) to \mathcal{PT}	14
7	The	TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonian of a cavity field under parametric amplifi-	
	catio	on de la constante de la const	14
	7.1	The TD antilinear symmetry operator	14
	7.2	Dyson map and pseudo-Hermiticity	16
	7.3	All-creation and all-annihilation Hamiltonians	17
	7.4	From $I(t)$ in Eq. (47) to \mathcal{PT}	18
8	The	TI non-Hermitian Hamiltonian of a cavity field under parametric amplification	18
	8.1	The TI antilinear symmetry operator for the TI Hamiltonian	18
		8.1.1 Bender-Berry-Mandilara	19
	8.2	Dyson map and pseudo-Hermiticity	20
	8.3	Symmetry breaking	21
9	A co	nnection between the symmetry and metric operators	21
10	Con	clusions	23
Re	References		24

1 Introduction

In the last two decades, since the seminal contributions of Bender and Boettcher [1] and Mostafazadeh [2–4], \mathcal{PT} -symmetric Hamiltonians —invariant under parity (\mathcal{P}) and timereversal (\mathcal{T}) symmetry— have been investigated in practically all domains of physics, from low to high energies, revealing to be an increasingly autonomous and thought-provoking field. The \mathcal{PT} -symmetry condition, weaker than Hermiticity, greatly expands the possibility of the Hamiltonian description of physical systems (with real eigenvalues [1] and conservation of the norm [2]), which is one of the strong calls for the field. And much has been done recently, such as the experimental realizations of Floquet \mathcal{PT} -symmetric systems [5] and \mathcal{PT} symmetric flat bands [6], besides enhanced sensing based on \mathcal{PT} -symmetric electronic circuits [7] and \mathcal{PT} -symmetric topological edge-gain effect [8]. The linear response theory for a pseudo-Hermitian system-reservoir interaction was developed [9], as well as a protocol to approach non-Hermitian non-commutative quantum mechanics [10].

In this work we propose a method to derive a general time-dependent (TD) continuous symmetry operator for a TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonian. This will be done in the broader scenario of non-autonomous Hamiltonians, and for this reason we revisit the TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonians of a cavity field under linear [11] and parametric [12] amplifications. These Hamiltonians have been considered for approaching TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonians under TD Dyson maps, thus extending the method proposed by Mostafazadeh [2]. This extension was also undertaken in Refs. [13, 14]. The consequences of allowing the Hilbert space to have a TD metric were posed in Ref. [15], while a treatment of a TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonian

through a TI metric operator was done in Ref. [16]. The investigation of TD metric operators for the treatment of TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonians was undertaken in Ref. [17].

Many interesting contributions to the subject of TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonians have been presented [18–23]. We mention, in particular, a method that adds to the achievements of Ref. [11], enabling the unitarity of the time-evolution and the observability of non-Hermitian Hamiltonians through particular TD Dyson maps that define time-independent (TI) metric operators [24]. Moreover, we stress the introduction of the all-creation and all-annihilation TD pseudo-Hermitian bosonic Hamiltonians [25,26], able to generate an infinite squeezing degree at a finite time. A TD pseudo-Hermitian Hamiltonian for a cavity mode with complex frequency is also able to generate an infinite squeezing at a finite time [27]. Finally, we mention the enhancement of photon creation through the pseudo-Hermitian dynamical Casimir effect [28].

Our subject, pseudo-Hermiticity beyond \mathcal{PT} -symmetry, is in fact at the foundations of pseudo-Hermitian quantum mechanics. A theorem by Mostafazadeh [4] —formulated for TI non-Hermitian Hamiltonians, symmetries and metric operators— asserts that a *diagonalizable* (non-Hermitian) Hamiltonian is pseudo-Hermitian if an only if it has an antilinear symmetry, *i.e., a symmetry generated by an invertible antilinear operator*. Moreover, Bender, Berry and Mandilara [29] have shown that a non-Hermitian Hamiltonian presents a real spectrum not only when invariant under \mathcal{PT} -symmetry, but also under any antiunitary operator I satisfying $I^{2k} = 1$ with k odd. We also mention the demonstration that supersymmetry gives rise to non- \mathcal{PT} -symmetric families of complex potentials with entirely real spectra [30], and also the proposition of chiral metamaterials with \mathcal{PT} symmetry and beyond [31]. Despite the generality of the pseudo-Hermitian requirement, the particular case of \mathcal{PT} -symmetric Hamiltonians gained prominence due to Bender and Boettcher's seminal work and certainly due to the strong physical appeal of parity and time-reversal invariance.

Our objective is precisely to explore more general symmetries than \mathcal{PT} starting from the general scenario of TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonians. The method we propose for the derivation of TD symmetries for TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonians applies indistinctly to *linear* or *antilinear*, *unitary* or *nonunitary symmetries*. However, we assume the symmetry to be an *antilinear* operator aiming to retrieve the results by Mostafazadeh [4] and Bender-Berry-Mandilara [29] in the particular case of a TI scenario, i.e., TI non-Hermitian Hamiltonians, metrics and symmetries. The above mentioned theorem by Mostafazadeh [4] is retrieved when considering an *antilinear symmetry* while the result by Bender-Berry-Mandilara is retrieved when considering a *unitary antilinear* or *antiunitary symmetry*.

After presenting our method to derive the symmetry operator, we then apply it for TD non-Hermitian linear and quadratic Hamiltonian, modelling a cavity field under linear and parametric amplifications. As expected, we have derived TD continuous antilinear symmetries far more complex than the spatial reflection and time reversal. These TD symmetries are then particularized to the equivalent TI non-Hermitian linear and quadratic Hamiltonians and their \mathcal{PT} -symmetric restrictions. Then, in the TI scenario, the results in Refs. [2, 3, 29] are perfectly retrieved. The \mathcal{PT} -symmetry is then a particular case of more general symmetries in which spatial reflection is generalized to continuous rotations followed by additional displacement and/or squeezing in phase space. Our results reinforce the prospects of going beyond \mathcal{PT} -symmetric quantum mechanics making the field of pseudo-Hermitian quantum mechanics even more comprehensive and promising.

In addition, guided by the results in Refs. [2, 3, 29], here we explore the connection between *antilinear symmetries* and *metrics*. We derive a relation between the TD symmetry and a pair of TD metric operators, one linear and the other antilinear, which is analogous to the Mostafazadeh's relation [4] for the TI scenario. This connection between symmetry and metric is explored a little further, leading us to propose a relation between symmetry (*I*) and metric (ρ) operators. Then, this symmetry-metric relation is put in perspective with the TD antilinear symmetry $I(t) = \Xi^{-1}(t)\rho(t)$ we have derived, allowing us to finally compute the $\Xi(t)$ -anti-pseudo-Hermitian operator.

We stress that from the 1990s onwards, the field of radiation-matter interaction underwent extraordinary progress when experimentalists began to coherently control the process of the interaction of a single atom with a single photon of the radiation field [32, 33]. This control allowed probing fundamental aspects of quantum mechanics and implementing quantum logic operations, among other important achievements. We also remember the construction of the Bose-Einstein condensates, which allowed unprecedented control in the manipulation of many-body processes [34, 35]. For some time now, this control of the atom-field interaction has been sought towards time-dependent processes of radiation-matter interaction, as we know from the many advances made in the experimental verification of the dynamical Casimir effect [36–40]. We have reason to believe that not only the dynamical Casimir effect, but other processes involving TD Hamiltonians —such as a TD Josephson-type coupling in twomode Bose-Einstein condensates [41, 42]— will soon be achieved. Therefore, the TD pseudo-Hermitian quantum mechanics, in its most general form, accounting for TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonians, symmetries and metric operators, must be studied to account for these TD processes.

We also note that our results shed light on the treatments already presented in the literature on TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonians. For example, our developments considerably broaden our understanding of those presented in Refs. [11,12,25–28], where all the analysis on symmetry is reduced to the conditions for a TD Hamiltonian to be \mathcal{PT} -symmetric. From our conclusions, we now know that there are close connections between the group algebra of the Hamiltonian, the symmetry and the metric operator. As concluded below, when considering a TD non-Hermitian and non- \mathcal{PT} -symmetric Hamiltonian, we can now start by computing the symmetry operator I(t) of the system modeled by the Hamiltonian H(t), from which we automatically compute the metric operator, the ρ -pseudo-Hermitian and the Ξ -anti-pseudo-Hermitian operators.

Our paper is organized as follows. In Section 2 we briefly revisit the foundations of pseudo-Hermitian quantum mechanics for TI and TD Hamiltonians. In Section 3 we present a method for the construction of a general TD symmetry operator for a TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonian. In Section 4 we assume that the TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonian is simultaneously $\rho(t)$ pseudo-Hermitian and $\Xi(t)$ -anti-pseudo-Hermitian, to derive the relation $I(t) = \Xi^{-1}(t)\rho(t)$ for our TD antilinear symmetry operator. From this relation we retrieve the Mostafazadeh's theorems for the TI scenario [4]. The TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonian describing a cavity field under linear amplification is introduced in Section 5. We then compute the TD symmetry operator for this non-Hermitian linear Hamiltonian using the method presented in Section 3. We demonstrate that this TD symmetry reduces to the \mathcal{PT} operator when the non-Hermitian linear Hamiltonian is assumed to be \mathcal{PT} symmetric. An ansatz for the Dyson map is then proposed for the construction of the pseudo-Hermiticity relation. In Section 6 we address the TI equivalent of the TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonian introduced in Section 5. In this TI scenario we retrieve the Bender-Berry-Mandilara [29] result, and when considering a \mathcal{PT} -symmetric TI non-Hermitian Hamiltonian, we verify that the TI symmetry again reduces to the \mathcal{PT} operator. In Section 7 we introduce the TD pseudo-Hermitian Hamiltonian of a cavity field under parametric amplification. The TD symmetry operator is then derived. Also in this section the TD Dyson map is presented and the Hermitian counterpart of the Hamiltonian is computed. In Section 8 we consider the TI equivalent of the Hamiltonian introduced in Section 7. In Section 9 we present a symmetry-metric relation for TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonians by which the TD metric is automatically computed from the TD symmetry of the problem. By contrasting the symmetry-metric relation with the antilinear symmetry $I(t) = \Xi^{-1}(t)\rho(t)$ derived in Section 4, we are finally able to compute the $\Xi(t)$ -anti-pseudo-Hermitian operator. In Section 10 we present our conclusions.

2 Pseudo-Hermiticity for TD and TI non-Hermitian Hamiltonians

We start our review following the Ref. [11], where a method is presented for approaching the quantum mechanics of TD non-Hermitian and non-observable Hamiltonians with TD metric operators. Alternative developments for the TD scenario are also given in Refs. [13,14]. From the particularization of these results for TI non-Hermitian Hamiltonians and metric operators, we then derive the results presented by Mostafazadeh in Ref. [2]. Considering a TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonian H(t) and a nonunitary TD Dyson map $\eta(t)$, the Schrödinger equation $i\partial_t |\Psi(t)\rangle = H(t)|\Psi(t)\rangle$ ($\hbar = 1$) is transformed to $i\partial_t |\Psi(t)\rangle = h(t)|\Psi(t)\rangle$, with

$$h(t) = \eta(t)H(t)\eta^{-1}(t) + i\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\eta(t)\right)\eta^{-1}(t), \qquad (1)$$

and $|\psi(t)\rangle = \eta(t)|\Psi(t)\rangle$. This transformed Hamiltonian h(t) becomes Hermitian as long as the TD pseudo-Hermiticity relation

$$H^{\dagger}(t)\rho(t) - \rho(t)H(t) = i\partial_t \rho(t)$$
(2)

is satisfied, where $\rho(t) = \eta^{\dagger}(t)\eta(t)$ is the TD metric operator ensuring the norm-conservation:

$$\left\langle \Psi(t) \left| \tilde{\Psi}(t) \right\rangle_{\rho(t)} = \left\langle \Psi(t) \left| \rho(t) \,\tilde{\Psi}(t) \right\rangle = \left\langle \psi(t) \left| \tilde{\psi}(t) \right\rangle.$$
(3)

In the same way that Eq. (2) ensures the norm-conservation —through the time derivative of Eq. (3)—, it also ensures the similarity transformation

$$O(t) = \eta^{-1}(t)o(t)\eta(t),$$
(4)

between the observables O(t) and o(t) in the pseudo-Hermitian and Hermitian systems, respectively, thus enabling the computation of the matrix elements

$$\left\langle \Psi(t) | O(t) | \tilde{\Psi}(t) \right\rangle_{\rho(t)} = \left\langle \Psi(t) | \rho(t) O(t) | \tilde{\Psi}(t) \right\rangle = \left\langle \psi(t) | o(t) | \tilde{\psi}(t) \right\rangle.$$
(5)

The reason why a TD Dyson map is required for the construction of the Hermitian counterpart h(t) of an equally TD non-Hermitian H(t), is to avoid unwanted constraints between the parameters defining H(t). When considering a TI non-Hermitian H so that an equally TI Dyson map η can be considered, as in Ref. [2], the TD Dyson relation (1) simplifies to the similarity transformation

$$h = \eta H \eta^{-1}, \tag{6}$$

whereas the Eq. (2) simplifies to the well-known pseudo-Hermiticity relation

$$H^{\dagger}\rho = \rho H \,. \tag{7}$$

We now analyze the consequences of the TD extension of the Mostafazadeh's method based on the last two equations (6) and (7). First, within the TD extension and then the TD Dyson relation (1), we lose the similarity transformation (6) which ensures the observability of the Hamiltonian. However, the similarity transformation (4) remains valid for all operators O(t)other than the Hamiltonian, making the TD pseudo-Hermitian Hamiltonians as pertinent as their TI partners. It is worth noting that the observability of TD Hamiltonians is a sensitive point even in Hermitian quantum mechanics, where, as discussed in Ref. [24], the Hamiltonian acts essentially as the generator of the model's dynamics.

We end this brief review noting that in Ref. [24] a method is proposed for the derivation of particular TD Dyson maps which ensures the observability of TD pseudo-Hermitian Hamiltonians —as much as in Hermitian quantum mechanics— by restoring the similarity transformation between H(t) and h(t). In the treatment we have developed below, however, we are not considering the method in [24], and the Hamiltonians H(t) and h(t) must be transformed through the TD pseudo-Hermiticity relation (2).

3 A Method for the construction of a general TD symmetry operator

In order to explore more general symmetries than \mathcal{PT} for a TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonian H(t), we first propose a method to derive this symmetry I(t) which applies indistinctly to linear or antilinear, unitary or nonunitary symmetries. However, as anticipated above, from now on we assume this symmetry to be antilinear so that we can retrieve the results in Refs. [4,29] for the particular case of TI Hamiltonians and symmetries. Moreover, as well as the Hamiltonian, we assume the symmetry to be a TD operator. Starting from the Schrödinger equation for H(t), we apply the antilinear operator I(t) on both its left-hand sides and then replace t by -t, to obtain

$$i\frac{\partial}{\partial t}I(-t)|\psi(-t)\rangle = \left(I(-t)H(-t)I^{-1}(-t) + i\frac{\partial I(-t)}{\partial t}I^{-1}(-t)\right)I(-t)|\psi(-t)\rangle.$$
(8)

Therefore, for the transformation I(t) to be a symmetry of the system modeled by the Hamiltonian H(t), thus producing an independent solution $I(-t)|\psi(-t)\rangle$ of the Schrödinger equation from a given solution $|\psi(t)\rangle$, we end up with the equation

$$i\frac{\partial I(t)}{\partial t} + H(-t)I(t) - I(t)H(t) = 0, \qquad (9)$$

which defines an anti-linear invariant for a non-Hermitian Hamiltonian. If we had considered a linear instead of antilinear transformation I(t), we would have obtained the equation

$$i\frac{\partial I(t)}{\partial t} + [I(t), H(t)] = 0, \qquad (10)$$

which defines a linear dynamical invariant for a non-Hermitian Hamiltonian H(t). The Eq. (10) is exactly that defining the Lewis & Riesenfeld linear dynamical invariant for a Hermitian Hamiltonian H(t) [43–46].

For a TI symmetry I, the Eq. (9) simplifies to the form

$$IH(t)I^{-1} = H(-t), (11)$$

and for the case where both the symmetry and the Hamiltonian are TI operators, the condition (11) is further simplified to the commutation

$$[I,H] = 0. (12)$$

Regarding the TI \mathcal{PT} operation, the condition for a TD Hamiltonian to be $\mathcal{PT}\text{-symmetric}$ is given by

$$\mathcal{PTH}(t)(\mathcal{PT})^{-1} = H(-t), \tag{13}$$

which reduces, for TI Hamiltonians, to the commutation relation $[\mathcal{PT}, H] = 0$.

We thus verify that the condition for the TD operator I(t) to be the symmetry associated with a TD Hamiltonian H(t), given by the differential equation (9), simplifies to the algebraic equation (11) for a TI symmetry operator. This represents a major reduction in the generality of the symmetry operator, which becomes even greater for a TI Hamiltonian.

Following the reasonings in Ref. [44], where a method for the construction of nonlinear Lewis & Riesenfeld TD invariants is presented, we define the general symmetry operator as the product $I(t) = \Lambda(t)\mathcal{U}(t)$, with $\Lambda(t)$ being either a unitary or nonunitary operator. Regarding $\mathcal{U}(t)$, from now on we assume it to be antilinear in accordance with the condition imposed in

references [4,29], whose results we want to rescue in the scenario of TI Hamiltonian, symmetry and metric operators.

Considering the product $I(t) = \Lambda(t)\mathcal{U}(t)$, Eq. (9) can be rewritten in the form

$$\left(i\frac{\partial\Lambda(t)}{\partial t} + H(-t)\Lambda(t) - \Lambda(t)H(t)\right)\mathcal{U}(t) + \Lambda(t)\left(i\frac{\partial\mathcal{U}(t)}{\partial t} + [H(t),\mathcal{U}(t)]\right) = 0.$$
(14)

By also rewriting the Hamiltonian as $H(t) = H_0(t) + V(t)$, with $H_0(t)$ being either a diagonal or nondiagonal operator with known eigenstates, we propose the ansatz $U(t) = \mathcal{R}(t)\mathcal{T}$, with \mathcal{T} being the time-reversal operator and $\mathcal{R}(t) = e^{i\phi(t)H_0(t)}$, with a TD complex parameter $\phi(t)$. For a Hermitian $H_0(t)$, U(t) then becomes an antiunitary operator. We thus define the TD operator

$$\Theta(t) = \left(i\frac{\partial \mathcal{U}(t)}{\partial t} + [H(t),\mathcal{U}(t)]\right)\mathcal{U}^{-1}(t),$$
(15)

such that Eq. (14) becomes

$$i\frac{\partial\Lambda(t)}{\partial t} + H(-t)\Lambda(t) - \Lambda(t)H(t) = -\Lambda(t)\Theta(t).$$
(16)

In summary, to obtain $I(t) = \Lambda(t)\mathcal{U}(t)$, we first compute the TD operator $\Theta(t)$ from Eq. (15), by taking the advantage of the known eigenstate basis of $H_0(t)$ which defines $\mathcal{R}(t)$. Next, starting from an ansatz for $\Lambda(t)$, based on the symmetry group of V(t), we then compute this operator from Eq. (16), what finally gives us the symmetry I(t). It is evidently straightforward to derive the equivalent of Eq. (9) for a linear symmetry operator, with the same ansatz $I(t) = \Lambda(t)\mathcal{U}(t)$ applying for its solution.

4 The antilinear symmetry described by a couple of linear and antilinear metric operators

Let us consider a TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonian H(t) which obeys the TD pseudo-Hermiticity relation given by Eq. (2): $H^{\dagger}(t)\rho(t) - \rho(t)H(t) = i\partial_t\rho(t)$. Starting with the Schrödinger equation for H(t), $i\partial_t |\psi(t)\rangle = H(t)|\psi(t)\rangle$, applying the linear metric operator $\rho(t)$ on its l.h.s., and assuming the relation in Eq. (2), we obtain

$$i\frac{\partial}{\partial t}|\chi(t)\rangle = H^{\dagger}(t)|\chi(t)\rangle, \qquad (17)$$

where we have defined $|\chi(t)\rangle = \rho(t)|\psi(t)\rangle$. Next, assuming that H(t) also obeys a TD antipseudo-Hermiticity relation

$$H^{\dagger}(t)\Xi(t) - \Xi(t)H(-t) = i\dot{\Xi}(t),$$
 (18)

for the TD antilinear metric operator $\Xi(t)$, the application of the operator $\Xi(-t)$ on the l.h.s. of the Schrödinger equation for H(t), leads us again to the Eq. (17) once we define $|\chi(t)\rangle = \Xi(t)|\psi(-t)\rangle$.

Considering both the TD pseudo-Hermiticity relations, in Eqs. (2) and (18), we derive $H^{\dagger}(t) = \rho(t)H(t)\rho^{-1}(t)+i\dot{\rho}(t)\rho^{-1}(t)$ from the former and then substitute this adjoint Hamiltonian into the latter to obtain

$$i\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\left[\Xi^{-1}(t)\rho(t)\right] = \left[\Xi^{-1}(t)\rho(t)\right]H(t) - H(-t)\left[\Xi^{-1}(t)\rho(t)\right].$$
(19)

It is straightforward and remarkable to verify that the above expression recovers the Eq. (9) for the TD antilinear symmetry operator defined as

$$I(t) = \Xi^{-1}(t)\rho(t).$$
(20)

In fact, for the case where only the Hamiltonian H(t) is a TD operator, we then obtain the simplified linear and antilinear pseudo-Hermiticity relations $H^{\dagger}(t)\rho = \rho H(t)$ and $H^{\dagger}(t)\Xi = \Xi H(-t)$, with the TI antilinear symmetry $I = \Xi^{-1}\rho$. When the Hamiltonian is also a TI operator, we then retrieve from our assumption of a TD anti-pseudo-Hermitian relation (18), the results proved by Mostafazadeh in Ref. [4], that *every* (*non-Hermitian*) *diagonalizable Hamiltonian is anti-pseudo-Hermitian and that the pseudo-Hermiticity of the Hamiltonian implies* the presence of an antilinear symmetry. In fact, in this case we have $\rho H \rho^{-1} = H^{\dagger} = \Xi H \Xi^{-1}$, and hence $[H, \Xi^{-1}\rho] = 0$.

We have thus verified that, for TD Hamiltonian, symmetry and metric operators, we have derived the TD counterpart of the important Mostafazadeh's relation for the symmetry operator, $I = \Xi^{-1}\rho$. We do not, of course, have a counterpart to the theorem proved by Mostafazadeh in the TI scenario, but verifying that the symmetry operator $I(t) = \Lambda(t)\mathcal{U}(t)$ we have derive through Eq. (9) can also be written in the form that generalizes Mostafazadeh's expression to the TD scenario, is significant and will be explored below.

5 The TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonian of a cavity field under linear amplification

The TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonian modeling a cavity field under linear amplification is given by

$$H(t) = \omega(t)a^{\dagger}a + \alpha(t)a + \beta(t)a^{\dagger}, \qquad (21)$$

with the TD parameters $\omega(t)$, $\alpha(t)$, and $\beta(t)$ being complex functions. Here we just demand that $H^{\dagger}(t) \neq H(t)$, such that $\omega^{*}(t) \neq \omega(t)$ and/or $\alpha^{*}(t) \neq \beta(t)$. The usual requirement for the Hamiltonian (21) to be \mathcal{PT} -symmetric, given by Eq. (13), imposes the more restrictive conditions $\omega^{*}(-t) = \omega(t)$, $\alpha^{*}(-t) = -\alpha(t)$, and $\beta^{*}(-t) = -\beta(t)$. From Eq. (13) we also verify that the Hamiltonian (21) is \mathcal{PT} -symmetric under spatial reflection about both $x_{0} = 0$ and

$$x_0 = -\sqrt{\frac{1}{2m\omega(t)} \frac{\alpha(t) + \beta(t)}{\omega(t)}} = \text{real constant}.$$
 (22)

For the case of a TI Hamiltonian, $x_0 \neq 0$ implies a Hermitian Hamiltonian, whereas for a TD Hamiltonian, $x_0 \neq 0$ imposes constraints on the Hamiltonian parameters which do not occur for x = 0.

5.1 The TD antilinear symmetry operator

Considering the method proposed for deriving the symmetry operator, we rewrite the Hamiltonian (21) in the form $H(t) = H_0(t) + V(t)$, with $H_0(t) = \omega(t)a^{\dagger}a$ and $V(t) = \alpha(t)a + \beta(t)a^{\dagger}$. We then define the operator $\mathcal{R}(t) = e^{-i\phi(t)a^{\dagger}a}$, such that $\mathcal{U}(t) = e^{-i\phi(t)a^{\dagger}a}\mathcal{T}$. Consequently, using Eq. (15) we obtain

$$\Theta(t) = \left[\omega(t) - \omega^*(t) + \dot{\phi}(t)\right] a^{\dagger} a + \left[\alpha(t) - \alpha^*(t)e^{i\phi(t)}\right] a + \left[\beta(t) - \beta^*(t)e^{-i\phi(t)}\right] a^{\dagger}, \quad (23)$$

where the dot indicates a time derivative. Next, we consider, as an ansatz, the generalized displacement operator

$$\Lambda(t) = e^{\nu(t)a' + \lambda(t)a + \mu(t)}, \qquad (24)$$

which becomes a unitary operator for $\lambda(t) = -\nu^*(t)$, and a Hermitian operator for $\lambda(t) = \nu^*(t)$. We thus obtain from Eqs.

(24) and (16):

$$i\frac{\partial\Lambda(t)}{\partial t} + H(-t)\Lambda(t) - \Lambda(t)H(t) = -\left[A(t)a^{\dagger}a + B(t)a + C(t)a^{\dagger} + D(t)\right]\Lambda(t), \quad (25)$$

where

$$A(t) = \omega(t) - \omega(-t), \qquad (26a)$$

$$B(t) = -\dot{\lambda}(t) + \omega(t)\lambda(t) + \alpha(t) - \alpha(-t), \qquad (26b)$$

$$C(t) = -\dot{\nu}(t) - \omega(t)\nu(t) + \beta(t) - \beta(-t), \qquad (26c)$$

$$D(t) = -\dot{\mu}(t) - \frac{1}{2} \left[\dot{\nu}(t)\lambda(t) - \nu(t)\dot{\lambda}(t) \right] - \omega(t)\lambda(t)\nu(t) - \alpha(t)\nu(t) + \beta(t)\lambda(t).$$
(26d)

From the r.h.s. of Eqs. (16) and (25), it follows that

$$\Lambda(t)\Theta(t)\Lambda^{-1}(t) = A(t)a^{\dagger}a + B(t)a + C(t)a^{\dagger} + D(t), \qquad (27)$$

and by substituting Eqs. (23) and (24) in Eq. (27), we obtain

$$\phi(t) = \phi_0 + \int_0^t [\omega^*(\tau) - \omega(-\tau)] d\tau, \qquad (28a)$$

$$\dot{\lambda}(t) = \omega(-t)\lambda(t) + \alpha^*(t)e^{i\phi(t)} - \alpha(-t), \qquad (28b)$$

$$\dot{\nu}(t) = -\omega(-t)\nu(t) + \beta^{*}(t)e^{-i\phi} - \beta(-t),$$
(28c)

$$\mu(t) = \mu_0 - \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \left\{ \left[\alpha^*(\tau) e^{i\phi(\tau)} + \alpha(-\tau) \right] \nu(\tau) - \left[\beta^*(\tau) e^{-i\phi(\tau)} + \beta(-\tau) \right] \lambda(\tau) \right\} d\tau.$$
(28d)

Note from Eq. (28d) that the parameter $\mu(t)$ is added to the generalized displacement operator to avoid undesirable constraints in the Hamiltonian's parameters. For the particular case of a unitary operator $\Lambda(t)$, where $\lambda(t) = -\nu^*(t)$, we use Eqs. (28b) and (28c) to obtain

$$v(t) = \frac{\alpha(t) + \beta^{*}(t)}{\omega(-t) + \omega^{*}(-t)} e^{-i\phi} - \frac{\alpha^{*}(-t) + \beta(-t)}{\omega(-t) + \omega^{*}(-t)}.$$
(29)

Therefore, from Eqs. (28) we obtain the parameters defining the TD antilinear symmetry operator

$$I(t) = \mathcal{D}(t)\mathcal{R}(t)\mathcal{T}, \qquad (30)$$

where we have replaced Λ for \mathcal{D} , which, for a unitary Λ becomes the displacement operator. This symmetry operator describes the successive actions of a time-reversal operator \mathcal{T} , a TD global rotation in phase space $\mathcal{R}(t) = e^{-i\phi(t)a^{\dagger}a}$ and, finally, let us say, a TD generalized displacement in phase space $\mathcal{D}(t) = e^{\nu(t)a^{\dagger}+\lambda(t)a+\mu(t)}$. For a unitary Λ , this TD symmetry $I(t) = \mathcal{D}(t)\mathcal{R}(t)\mathcal{T}$ resembles the evolution operator for the Hermitized counterpart of the TD Hamiltonian in Eq. (21), except, of course, for the time-reversal operation. Such evolution operator can be derived following the reasonings in Refs. [12, 25, 26, 44–46]. Therefore, if applied to a given state of the Hermitized counterpart of our Hamiltonian, this peculiar TD symmetry operator $I(t) = \mathcal{D}(t)\mathcal{R}(t)\mathcal{T}$ causes the probability distribution to trace an upward spiral in phase space.

5.2 The Dyson map and pseudo-Hermiticity relation

For treating a TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonian we consider a TD Dyson map η which results, in general [24], in a TD metric operator $\rho = \eta^{\dagger} \eta$. Otherwise, the TD pseudo-Hermiticity relation (2) imposes undesirable constraints on the TD parameters of the Hamiltonian. For the TD Dyson map we consider the ansatz

$$\eta = e^{\epsilon a^{\dagger} a + \gamma a + \gamma^* a^{\dagger}},\tag{31}$$

with $\epsilon(t)$ being a real function. To determine its time derivative we use the method of parameter differentiation [47], by which

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}e^{Z} = \int_{0}^{1} e^{xZ} \frac{\partial Z}{\partial t} e^{-xZ} dx e^{Z}, \qquad (32)$$

where $Z = \epsilon a^{\dagger} a + \gamma a + \gamma^* a^{\dagger}$. We thus obtain the Hamiltonian

$$h = Wa^{\dagger}a + Ua + Va^{\dagger} + F, \qquad (33)$$

where

$$W = i\dot{\epsilon} + \omega, \tag{34a}$$

$$U = i\dot{\gamma} + i\left(1 - \frac{1 - e^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon}\right) \left(\frac{\gamma}{\epsilon}\dot{\epsilon} - \dot{\gamma}\right) + \omega\gamma \frac{1 - e^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon} + \alpha e^{-\epsilon}, \qquad (34b)$$

$$V = i\dot{\gamma}^* + i\left(1 + \frac{1 - e^{\epsilon}}{\epsilon}\right)\left(\frac{\gamma^*}{\epsilon}\dot{\epsilon} - \dot{\gamma}^*\right) + \omega\gamma^*\frac{1 - e^{\epsilon}}{\epsilon} + \beta e^{\epsilon}, \qquad (34c)$$

$$F = 2|\gamma|^{2} \left(i\frac{\dot{\epsilon}}{\epsilon} + \omega \right) \frac{1 - \cosh \epsilon}{\epsilon^{2}} - \frac{i}{\epsilon} \left(1 - \frac{1 - e^{-\epsilon}}{\epsilon} \right) \gamma^{*} \dot{\gamma} - \frac{i}{\epsilon} \left(1 + \frac{1 - e^{\epsilon}}{\epsilon} \right) \gamma \dot{\gamma}^{*} - \frac{\alpha \gamma^{*}}{\epsilon} \left(1 - e^{-\epsilon} \right) - \frac{\beta \gamma}{\epsilon} \left(1 - e^{\epsilon} \right).$$
(34d)

To ensure the Hermiticity of h(t) we impose a complex TD frequency $\omega(t) = \omega_R(t) - i\dot{\epsilon}(t)$, with $\omega_R(t)$ being a real function, in addition to $U = V^*$ and $F \in \mathbb{R}$, what demands that

$$\dot{\gamma} + \left(\frac{\epsilon \coth \epsilon - 1}{\epsilon} \dot{\epsilon} - i\omega_R\right) \gamma - i \frac{\epsilon}{2\sinh \epsilon} \left(\alpha e^{-\epsilon} - \beta^* e^{\epsilon}\right) = 0, \qquad (35a)$$

$$2i\left(\frac{\sinh\epsilon}{\epsilon}-1\right)(\gamma\dot{\gamma}^{*}+\gamma^{*}\dot{\gamma})+2\left(\omega-\omega^{*}+2i\frac{\dot{\epsilon}}{\epsilon}\right)|\gamma|^{2}\frac{1-\cosh\epsilon}{\epsilon}-(\alpha\gamma^{*}-\alpha^{*}\gamma)(1-e^{-\epsilon})-(\beta\gamma-\beta^{*}\gamma^{*})(1-e^{\epsilon})=0.$$
(35b)

From (35a) we obtain

$$\gamma = e^{-\chi} \left(\gamma_0 + i \int_0^t \frac{\epsilon e^{\chi}}{2\sinh\epsilon} \left(\alpha e^{-\epsilon} - \beta^* e^{\epsilon} \right) d\tau \right), \tag{36}$$

with

$$\chi = \int_0^t \left(\frac{(\epsilon \coth \epsilon - 1)}{\epsilon} \dot{\epsilon} - i\omega_R \right) d\tau \,. \tag{37}$$

Now, by substituting Eq. (35a) into Eq. (35b), and admitting momentarily the approximation $\epsilon \ll 1$, we obtain

$$\epsilon \simeq \exp\left(-i \int_0^t \frac{(\alpha^* + \beta)\gamma - (\alpha + \beta^*)\gamma^*}{2|\gamma|^2} d\tau\right),\tag{38}$$

showing that the Hermiticity requirements in Eqs. (35) imposes no additional constraints on the Hamiltonian parameters, apart from the complex TD frequency $\omega(t) = \omega_R(t) - i\dot{\epsilon}(t)$ coming from Eq. (34a). Otherwise, when we assume that $\omega(t)$ is real from Eq. (21), it follows that ϵ must be constant, Which leads to a new Hamiltonian *h* in Eq. (33), and consequently to a new system in Eq. (34) and a new hermitization condition in Eq. (35). When the simplified Dyson map $\eta = e^{\gamma a + \gamma^* a^{\dagger}}$ is considered, as in Ref. [11], with $\epsilon = 0$, the pseudo-Hermiticity requirement of a complex frequency simplifies to that of a real one, $\omega(t) = \omega_R(t)$, still with no constraints on $\alpha(t)$ and $\beta(t)$.

Therefore, when considering the symmetry operator for the TD pseudo-Hermitian Hamiltonian (33), with γ and ϵ following from Eqs. (36) and (38), we must necessarily assume the function $\omega(t)$ appearing in Eqs. (28) to be of the form $\omega(t) = \omega_R(t) - i\dot{\epsilon}(t)$ (or $\omega = \omega_R$ for the particular Dyson map $\eta = e^{\gamma a + \gamma^* a^\dagger}$). Despite of the frequency constraint, the symmetry operator in Eq. (30), have no restrictions for the amplification parameters $\alpha(t)$ and $\beta(t)$.

5.3 From I(t) in Eq. (30) to \mathcal{PT}

The TI \mathcal{PT} operator can be directly recovered from Eq. (30), starting with the constraints under which the Hamiltonian (21) is \mathcal{PT} -symmetric: $\omega^*(-t) = \omega(t)$, $\alpha^*(-t) = -\alpha(t)$, and $\beta^*(-t) = -\beta(t)$. Assuming also a unitary $\Lambda(t)$, we verify from Eqs. (28a) and (28b) that the rotation is reduced to a TI operator with $\phi(t) = \phi_0$, while the parameter v(t) of the displacement operator is simplified to

$$\nu(t) = \frac{\alpha(t) + \beta^{*}(t)}{\omega^{*}(t) + \omega(t)} \left(1 + e^{i\phi_{0}}\right).$$
(39)

For a TI symmetry operator, where I = DU must be a TI parameter, we must then assume, to avoid undesirable constraints on the Hamiltonian parameters, that $\phi_0 = (2n + 1)\pi$, with $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. From this assumption we obtain $v(t) = \mu(t) = 0$, and noting that the parity operator can be written in the form $e^{-i(2n+1)\pi a^{\dagger}a}$, we finally recover the TI operator \mathcal{PT} from Eq. (30), i.e.,:

$$I(t) \to I = e^{-i(2n+1)\pi a^{\dagger}a} \mathcal{T} = \mathcal{P}\mathcal{T}.$$
(40)

6 The TI non-Hermitian Hamiltonian of a cavity field under linear amplification

Now we consider the particular case of a TI non-Hermitian Hamiltonian

$$H = \omega a^{\dagger} a + \alpha a + \beta a^{\dagger}, \qquad (41)$$

with $\omega^* \neq \omega$ and/or $\alpha^* \neq \beta$. The \mathcal{PT} -symmetry of H, now following from the commutation $[\mathcal{PT}, H] = 0$, imposes here the more restrictive conditions $\omega^* = \omega$, $\alpha^* = -\alpha$, and $\beta^* = -\beta$, and enables the spatial reflection only about $x_0 = 0$, for

$$\omega \in \mathbb{R}, \quad \alpha = |\alpha| e^{i(n+1/2)\pi}, \quad \beta = |\beta| e^{i(m+1/2)\pi}, \quad \text{with } n, m \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(42)

The case $x_0 \neq 0$ implies a Hermitian Hamiltonian as anticipated above.

6.1 The TI antilinear symmetry operator

The condition for the TI Hamiltonian (41) to be invariant under a TI antilinear operator I is given by the commutation relation [I,H] = 0. From the knowledge of the TD symmetry

Sci Post

operator in Eq. (30), it is natural to assume for its TI equivalent the form I = DRT, with a TI global rotation $\mathcal{R} = e^{-i\phi a^{\dagger}a}$ and a TI $\mathcal{D} = e^{\nu a^{\dagger} + \lambda a}$. We have neglected the parameter μ added to the Eq. (24) since it is insensitive to the commutation relation [I, H] = 0, which imposes the equations

$$\omega^* = \omega \,, \tag{43a}$$

$$\omega\lambda - \alpha + \alpha^* e^{i\phi} = 0, \qquad (43b)$$

$$\omega \nu + \beta - \beta^* e^{-i\phi} = 0, \qquad (43c)$$

$$\omega\lambda\nu + \alpha^*\nu e^{i\phi} - \beta^*\lambda e^{-i\phi} = 0.$$
(43d)

For a unitary Λ ($\lambda = -\nu^*$), and using the polar forms $\alpha = |\alpha| e^{i\varphi_{\alpha}}$ and $\beta = |\beta| e^{i\varphi_{\beta}}$, it follows from Eqs. (43) that

$$\phi = i \ln \frac{\alpha^* - \beta}{\alpha - \beta^*},\tag{44a}$$

$$|\nu| = \frac{1}{\omega} \left[|\alpha| \sin\left(\varphi_{\alpha} - \frac{\phi}{2}\right) - |\beta| \sin\left(\varphi_{\beta} + \frac{\phi}{2}\right) \right], \tag{44b}$$

$$\varphi_{\nu} = \left(n + \frac{1}{2}\right)\pi - \frac{\phi}{2}.$$
(44c)

Substituting Eqs. (44b) and (44c) into Eq. (43d) (with $\lambda = -v^*$), we obtain the expression

$$|\nu| \left[|\alpha| \cos\left(\varphi_{\alpha} - \frac{\phi}{2}\right) - |\beta| \cos\left(\varphi_{\beta} + \frac{\phi}{2}\right) \right] = 0, \qquad (45)$$

which result in two different solutions, one for $|\nu| = 0$ and the other for $|\nu| \neq 0$. For $|\nu| = 0$, the Eq. (45) is automatically satisfied and using Eq. (44b) we obtain the constraints $\varphi_{\alpha} = \phi/2 + n\pi$ and $\varphi_{\beta} = -\phi/2 + m\pi$, with $n, m \in \mathbb{Z}$, which satisfy Eq. (44a) for n = 0, such that $\phi = 2\varphi_{\alpha}$ and the Hamiltonian's parameters become

$$\omega \in \mathbb{R}, \quad \alpha = |\alpha| e^{i\varphi_{\alpha}}, \quad \beta = |\beta| e^{i[m\pi - \varphi_{\alpha}]}, \tag{46}$$

and the TI antiunitary symmetry operator

$$I = e^{-2i\varphi_{\alpha}a^{\dagger}a}\mathcal{T}.$$
(47)

For $|\nu| \neq 0$, we get the constraint

$$\frac{\cos\left(\varphi_{\alpha} - \phi/2\right)}{\cos\left(\varphi_{\beta} + \phi/2\right)} = \frac{|\beta|}{|\alpha|} = \mathfrak{p}, \qquad (48)$$

which, considering $\varphi_{\alpha} + \varphi_{\beta} = \varphi$, leads to the relation

$$\phi = 2\varphi_{\alpha} - 2\tan^{-1}\frac{1 - \mathfrak{p}\cos\varphi}{\mathfrak{p}\sin\varphi}, \qquad (49)$$

in agreement with Eq. (44a). From the above results, we obtain from Eq. (44b) the expression

$$|\nu| = \frac{|\alpha|}{\omega} \frac{1 - \mathfrak{p}^2}{1 + \mathfrak{p}^2 - 2\mathfrak{p}\cos\varphi},$$
(50)

which imposes

$$\mathfrak{f} = \mathfrak{p}^2 - \frac{2\omega\cos\varphi}{\omega + |\alpha|}\mathfrak{p} + \frac{\omega - |\alpha|}{\omega + |\alpha|} < 0, \qquad (51)$$

together with $|\cos \varphi| > \sqrt{\omega^2 - |\alpha|^2}/2\omega$, and then $\mathfrak{p}_- < \mathfrak{f} < \mathfrak{p}_+$, with

$$\mathfrak{p}_{\pm} = \frac{\omega}{\omega + |\alpha|} \left(1 \pm \sqrt{1 - \frac{\omega^2 - |\alpha|^2}{4\omega^2 \cos^2 \varphi}} \right).$$
(52)

The parameters in Eqs. (49) and (50), under the above constraints for φ and f, define the TI antiunitary symmetry operator

$$I = e^{\nu a^{\dagger} - \nu^* a} e^{-i\phi a^{\dagger} a} \mathcal{T}.$$
(53)

Although the TI continuous symmetry operators in Eqs. (47) and (53) are particular cases of the TD symmetry operator in Eq. (30), they are generalizations of the discrete parity and time-reversal transformation. Differently from the operator I(t) in Eq. (30), whose TD parameters depend on the Hermiticity conditions only through the frequency requirement $\omega = \omega_R - i\dot{\epsilon}$ (or $\omega = \omega_R$ for the particular Dyson map $\eta = e^{\gamma a + \gamma^* a^{\dagger}}$), the operators in Eqs. (47) and (53) takes into account the constraints imposed on ω , α and β . The TI non-Hermitian Hamiltonians and consequently the associated symmetry operators are more vulnerable than their general TD equivalents to the constraints imposed by the pseudo-Hermiticity relation. This vulnerability to the constraints follows from the more stringent condition for the invariance of a TI Hamiltonian: [I, H] = 0.

6.1.1 Bender-Berry-Mandilara

Although it is straightforward to verify the validity of the relation $I^{2k} = 1$, with k odd [29], for the symmetry operator in Eq. (47), its validity for the operator in Eq. (53) demands a little algebra. In fact, for the operator in Eq. (53) we obtain

$$I^{2} = e^{\nu a^{\dagger} - \nu^{*}a} e^{-i\phi a^{\dagger}a} e^{\nu^{*}a^{\dagger} - \nu a} e^{i\phi a^{\dagger}a} \mathcal{T}^{2}$$

= exp($\nu a^{\dagger} - \nu^{*}a$) exp($\nu^{*}e^{-i\phi}a^{\dagger} - \nu e^{i\phi}a$) = 1, (54)

since it follows from Eqs. (44c) and (50) that $ve^{i\phi} = -v^*$.

It is important to note that the TD symmetry operator I(t) does not obey the Bender-Berry-Mandilara relation. Although we still have the relation

$$I^{2}(t) = \exp\left[\nu(t)a^{\dagger} - \nu^{*}(t)a\right] \exp\left[\nu^{*}(t)e^{-i\phi(t)}a^{\dagger} - \nu(t)e^{i\phi(t)}a\right],$$
(55)

the equality $v(t)e^{i\phi(t)} = -v^*(t)$ is no longer satisfied in the TD scenario.

6.2 Dyson map and pseudo-Hermiticity

For the TI Hamiltonian (41), we consider the TI Dyson map $\eta = e^{\epsilon a^{\dagger} a + \gamma a + \gamma^* a^{\dagger}}$, with $\epsilon \in \mathbb{R}$, leading to the Dyson relation (6)

$$h = \eta H \eta^{-1} = \omega a^{\dagger} a + ua + va^{\dagger} + f , \qquad (56)$$

where *u*, *v* and *f* follow directly from *U*, *V* and *F* in Eqs. (34). The Hermiticity condition $h = h^{\dagger}$ imposes $\omega, f \in \mathbb{R}$ and $u = v^*$, such that

$$\gamma = \frac{\epsilon}{\omega} \frac{ae^{-\epsilon} - \beta^* e^{\epsilon}}{e^{-\epsilon} - e^{\epsilon}},$$
(57a)

$$\frac{\gamma^*}{\gamma} = \frac{\alpha^* \left(1 - e^{-\epsilon}\right) + \beta \left(e^{\epsilon} - 1\right)}{\alpha \left(1 - e^{-\epsilon}\right) + \beta^* \left(e^{\epsilon} - 1\right)}.$$
(57b)

By substituting Eq. (57a) into Eq. (57b) we obtain $\beta \alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. With the polar forms $\alpha = |\alpha| e^{i\varphi_{\alpha}}$ and $\beta = |\beta| e^{i\varphi_{\beta}}$, it follows that $\varphi_{\beta} = n\pi - \varphi_{\alpha}$, with $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Therefore, for the chosen TI Dyson map η , the Hamiltonian (41) becomes pseudo-Hermitian, with γ given by Eq. (57a) and ϵ being a free real parameter, under the constraints

$$\omega \in \mathbb{R}, \quad \alpha = |\alpha| e^{i\varphi_{\alpha}}, \quad \beta = |\beta| e^{i(n\pi - \varphi_{\alpha})}, \tag{58}$$

exactly those in Eq. (46). Therefore, for the case $|\nu| = 0$, the pseudo-Hermiticity does not impose additional constraints on the symmetry operator (47) beyond those already following from the commutation relation [I, H] = 0. The same does not apply to the case $|\nu| \neq 0$ which leads to the much more complex symmetry operator (53).

6.3 From *I* in Eq. (47) to \mathcal{PT}

Under the requirement for the \mathcal{PT} -symmetry invariance of the TI Hamiltonian (41), which imposes $\varphi_{\alpha} = \varphi_{\beta} = (n + 1/2) \pi$, the TI symmetry in Eq. (47) automatically reduces to

$$I = e^{-i(2n+1)\pi a^{\mathsf{T}}a} \mathcal{T} = \mathcal{P}\mathcal{T}.$$
(59)

7 The TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonian of a cavity field under parametric amplification

The TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonian for a cavity field under parametric amplification is given by

$$H = \omega(t) \left(a^{\dagger} a + 1/2 \right) + \alpha(t) a^{2} + \beta(t) a^{\dagger 2}, \tag{60}$$

with complex TD parameters $\omega(t)$, $\alpha(t)$, and $\beta(t)$. We only require this Hamiltonian to be non-Hermitian, $H^{\dagger}(t) \neq H(t)$, such that $\omega^{*}(t) \neq \omega(t)$ and/or $\alpha^{*}(t) \neq \beta(t)$. The usual \mathcal{PT} -symmetry requirement for Hamiltonian (60) imposes the more restrictive conditions $\omega^{*}(-t) = \omega(t)$, $\alpha^{*}(-t) = \alpha(t)$, and $\beta^{*}(-t) = \beta(t)$.

7.1 The TD antilinear symmetry operator

Rewriting the Hamiltonian (60) in the form $H(t) = H_0(t) + V(t)$, with $H_0(t) = \omega(t)a^{\dagger}a$ and $V(t) = \alpha(t)a^2 + \beta(t)a^{\dagger 2}$, we then define $\mathcal{R}(t) = e^{-i\phi(t)a^{\dagger}a}$ and $\mathcal{U}(t) = e^{-i\phi(t)a^{\dagger}a}\mathcal{T}$, enabling us to derive from Eq. (15) the operator

$$\Theta = (\dot{\phi} + \omega - \omega^*) (a^{\dagger}a + 1/2) + (\alpha - \alpha^* e^{2i\phi}) a^2 + (\beta - \beta^* e^{-2i\phi}) a^{\dagger 2}.$$
(61)

We now consider the ansatz

$$\Lambda(t) = e^{\xi(t)a^2 + \zeta(t)a^{\dagger 2}},\tag{62}$$

which becomes a unitary operator for $\zeta(t) = -\xi^*(t)$, and an Hermitian operator for $\zeta(t) = \xi^*(t)$. From the ansatz in Eq. (62) we compute the l.h.s. of Eq. (16), giving us

$$i\hbar\frac{\partial\Lambda(t)}{\partial t} + H(-t)\Lambda(t) - \Lambda(t)H(t) = \left[A(t)\left(a^{\dagger}a + 1/2\right) + B(t)a^{2} + C(t)a^{\dagger 2}\right]\Lambda(t), \quad (63)$$

where we have defined

$$A(t) = \omega(-t) - \omega(t) \cos\left(4\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right) + \left(\alpha(t)\sqrt{\xi^{-1}\zeta} - \beta(t)\sqrt{\xi\zeta^{-1}}\right) \sin\left(4\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right) + i\frac{\left(\dot{\xi}\zeta - \xi\dot{\zeta}\right)}{4\xi\zeta} \left[1 - 8\xi\zeta - \cos\left(4\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right)\right],$$
(64a)

$$B(t) = -\frac{1}{2}\omega(t)\sqrt{\xi\zeta^{-1}}\sin\left(4\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right) + \alpha(-t) - \alpha(t)\cos^{2}\left(2\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right) -\beta(t)\xi\zeta^{-1}\sin^{2}\left(2\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right) + i\dot{\xi} + 2i\frac{\xi(\dot{\xi}\zeta - \xi\dot{\zeta})}{\sqrt{\xi\zeta}}\left[4\sqrt{\xi\zeta} - \sin\left(4\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right)\right], \quad (64b)$$

$$C(t) = \frac{1}{2}\omega(t)\sqrt{\xi^{-1}\zeta}\sin\left(4\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right) + \beta(-t) - \beta(t)\cos^{2}\left(2\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right) -\alpha(t)\xi^{-1}\zeta\sin^{2}\left(2\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right) + i\dot{\zeta} - 2i\frac{\left(\dot{\xi}\zeta - \xi\dot{\zeta}\right)\zeta}{\sqrt{\xi\zeta}}\left[4\sqrt{\xi\zeta} - \sin\left(4\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right)\right].$$
(64c)

Next, we substitute Eq. (63) into Eq. (16) to obtain

$$\Lambda(t)\Theta(t)\Lambda^{-1}(t) = -\left[A(t)\left(a^{\dagger}a + \frac{1}{2}\right) + B(t)a^{2} + C(t)a^{\dagger 2}\right].$$
(65)

Finally, by substituting Eqs. (61) and (62) into Eq. (65), we derive the system

$$= \omega^{*}(t) - 2\alpha(-t)\sqrt{\xi^{-1}\zeta}\csc\left(4\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right) + \alpha^{*}(t)e^{2i\phi(t)}\sqrt{\xi^{-1}\zeta}\cot\left(2\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right) + \beta^{*}(t)e^{-2i\phi(t)}\sqrt{\xi\zeta^{-1}}\tan\left(2\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right),$$
(66b)
$$\dot{\phi} - 2i\dot{\zeta}\sqrt{\xi\zeta^{-1}}\csc(4\sqrt{\xi\zeta}) + 4i\left(\dot{\xi}\zeta - \xi\dot{\zeta}\right)\left[4\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\csc(4\sqrt{\xi\zeta}) - 1\right] = \omega^{*}(t) + 2\beta(-t)\sqrt{\xi\zeta^{-1}}\csc(4\sqrt{\xi\zeta}) - \alpha^{*}(t)e^{2i\phi(t)}\sqrt{\xi^{-1}\zeta}\tan\left(2\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right) - \beta^{*}(t)e^{-2i\phi(t)}\sqrt{\xi\zeta^{-1}}\cot\left(2\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right),$$
(66c)

from which we compute the variables $\phi(t)$, $\xi(t) = |\xi(t)| e^{i\varphi_{\xi}(t)}$ and $\zeta(t) = |\zeta(t)| e^{i\varphi_{\zeta}(t)}$ which define the operators $\mathcal{U}(t)$ and $\Lambda(t)$. In order to find a possible solution for the system (66), we assume small amplification parameters, $|\xi| \ll 1$ and $|\zeta| \ll 1$, in order to disregard their second order corrections, leaving us with the equations

$$\dot{\phi}(t) - \omega^*(t) + \omega(-t) + 4 \left[\alpha^*(t)\zeta(t)e^{2i\phi(t)} - \beta^*(t)\xi(t)e^{-2i\phi(t)} \right] = 0,$$
(67a)

$$2\xi(t)\dot{\phi}(t) + i\dot{\xi}(t) - 2\omega^{*}(t)\xi(t) - \alpha^{*}(t)e^{2i\phi(t)} + \alpha(-t) = 0, \quad (67b)$$

$$-2\zeta(t)\dot{\phi}(t) + i\dot{\zeta}(t) + 2\omega^{*}(t)\zeta(t) - \beta^{*}(t)e^{-2i\phi(t)} + \beta(-t) = 0.$$
 (67c)

For the particular case where $\Lambda(t)$ is a unitary operator, i.e., $\zeta(t) = -\xi^*(t)$, and $\text{Im }\omega(-t) \neq 0$, the above system simplifies to the decoupled equations

$$\dot{\phi}(t) = \omega^*(t) - \omega(-t) + 4 \left[\alpha^*(t) \xi^*(t) e^{2i\phi(t)} + \beta^*(t) \xi(t) e^{-2i\phi(t)} \right], \tag{68a}$$

$$\xi(t) = \frac{\alpha(-t) - \beta^*(-t) - \lfloor \alpha^*(t) - \beta(t) \rfloor e^{2i\psi(t)}}{4i \operatorname{Im} \omega(-t)}.$$
(68b)

For the case where $\text{Im }\omega(-t) = 0$, the parameter $\xi(t)$ follows from

$$2i\dot{\xi}(t) = 4[\operatorname{Re}\omega(-t)]\xi(t) + [\alpha^{*}(t) + \beta(t)]e^{2i\phi(t)} - \alpha(-t) - \beta^{*}(-t).$$
(69)

Therefore, from Eqs. (67) we obtain the parameters defining the TD antilinear symmetry operator

$$I(t) = \mathcal{S}(t)\mathcal{R}(t)\mathcal{T},\tag{70}$$

which becomes an antiunitary operator, with $\Lambda(t)$ being the squeezing operator $S(t) = e^{\xi(t)a^{\dagger 2} - \xi^*(t)a^2}$ when considering the parameters following from Eqs. (68). This symmetry operator describes the successive action of a time-reversal operator \mathcal{T} , a TD global rotation in phase space $\mathcal{R}(t) = e^{-i\phi(t)a^{\dagger a}}$ and a TD operation performed by the generalized squeezing $S(t) = e^{\xi(t)a^{\dagger 2} + \zeta(t)a^2}$. From Eq. (68b) we verify that the approximation $|\xi| \ll 1$ corresponds to small amplification parameters $|\alpha|$ and $|\beta|$ compared to $|\omega|$.

Similarly to the symmetry operator derived above for the TD non-Hermitian linear Hamiltonian, for the case unitary Λ the operator in Eq. (47) resembles the evolution operator for the Hermitized counterpart of the TD Hamiltonian in Eq. (60) [12,25,26,44–46], apart from the time-reversal operation. If applied to a given state of the Hermitized counterpart of our Hamiltonian, this symmetry operator moves the probability distribution across an upward spiral in phase space, continuously squeezing it.

7.2 Dyson map and pseudo-Hermiticity

For the TD quadratic Hamiltonian (60) we consider the TD quadratic Dyson map

$$\eta(t) = \exp\left[\epsilon(t)a^{\dagger}a + \gamma(t)a^{2} + \gamma^{*}(t)\left(a^{\dagger}\right)^{2}\right],$$
(71)

which is a positive Hermitian operator under the constraint $\theta^2 = \epsilon^2 - 4 |\gamma|^2 > 0$. This map provides us with the relations

$$\eta a \eta^{-1} = \left(\cosh \theta - \frac{\epsilon}{\theta} \sinh \theta\right) a - \frac{2\gamma^*}{\theta} \sinh \theta a^{\dagger}, \qquad (72a)$$

$$\eta a^{\dagger} \eta^{-1} = \left(\cosh \theta + \frac{\epsilon}{\theta} \sinh \theta\right) a^{\dagger} + \frac{2\gamma}{\theta} \sinh \theta a, \qquad (72b)$$

and consequently with the transformed Hamiltonian

$$h = \eta H \eta^{-1} + i \dot{\eta} \eta^{-1} = W \left(a^{\dagger} a + \frac{1}{2} \right) + U a^{2} + V a^{\dagger 2},$$
(73)

where, after defining the parameters

$$\lambda = \frac{2\gamma^* \sinh \theta}{\theta \cosh \theta - \epsilon \sinh \theta},$$
(74a)

$$\lambda_0 = \frac{\theta^2}{\left[\theta \cosh \theta - \epsilon \sinh \theta\right]^2},\tag{74b}$$

$$\chi = |\lambda|^2 - \lambda_0 \,, \tag{74c}$$

we obtain

$$W = -\frac{1}{\lambda_0} \left[\omega \left(\chi + |\lambda|^2 \right) + 2 \left(\alpha \lambda + \beta \chi \lambda^* \right) - \frac{i}{2} \left(\dot{\lambda}_0 - 2\Lambda \dot{\lambda}^* \right) \right], \tag{75a}$$

$$U = \frac{1}{\lambda_0} \left(\omega \lambda^* + \alpha + \beta \lambda^{*2} + \frac{i}{2} \dot{\lambda}^* \right), \tag{75b}$$

$$V = \frac{1}{\lambda_0} \left[\omega \chi \lambda + \alpha \lambda^2 + \beta \chi^2 + \frac{i}{2} \left(\lambda_0 \dot{\lambda} + \lambda^2 \dot{\lambda}^* - \Lambda \dot{\lambda}_0 \right) \right].$$
(75c)

For *h* in Eq. (73) to be Hermitian we require the constraints $W = W^*$ and $V = U^*$, which results in the system

$$|\dot{z}| = -|z|^2 \left\{ |\omega| \frac{\chi + \Phi^2}{\Phi} \sin \varphi_{\omega} - 2\left[|\alpha| \sin(\varphi - \varphi_{\alpha}) - |\beta| \chi \sin(\varphi + \varphi_{\beta}) \right] \right\} + \frac{|z|}{\Phi} \dot{\Phi}, \quad (76a)$$

$$\dot{\Phi} = \frac{2}{\chi - 1} \left\{ \left[|\omega| \Phi \sin \varphi_{\omega} - |\alpha| \sin (\varphi - \varphi_{\alpha}) \right] \left(1 - \Phi^2 \right) - |\beta| \left[(2\chi - 1) \Phi^2 - \chi^2 \right] \sin \left(\varphi + \varphi_{\beta} \right) \right\},$$
(76b)

$$\dot{\varphi} = \frac{2}{(1-\chi)\Phi} \Big[|\alpha| (1-\Phi^2) \cos(\varphi-\varphi_{\alpha}) + |\beta| (\Phi^2-\chi^2) \cos(\varphi+\varphi_{\beta}) \Big] + 2|\omega| \cos\varphi_{\omega}, \quad (76c)$$

where we have defined $\gamma = |\gamma| e^{i\varphi}$, $\Phi = \lambda e^{i\varphi}$, and

$$z = \frac{2\gamma}{\epsilon} = |z| e^{i\varphi}, \qquad (77)$$

with the initial values |z(0)| and $\varphi(0)$ being two free parameters defining the Dyson Map. After deriving z, λ and φ from the system (76), we the compute ϵ from the relation

$$\epsilon = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{1-|z|^2}} \ln\left[\frac{\left(1+\sqrt{1-|z|^2}\right)\Phi + |z|}{\left(1-\sqrt{1-|z|^2}\right)\Phi + |z|}\right].$$
(78)

As follows from the system (76), the requirement for the Hamiltonian h to be Hermitian does not imply any restrictions on the Hamiltonian parameters $\omega(t)$, $\alpha(t)$ and $\beta(t)$, differently from what happens with the TD pseudo-Hermitian linear Hamiltonian, where a constraint is required on the frequency of the oscillator. This desired absence of constraints on the parameters defining the TD non-Hermitian quadratic Hamiltonian comes certainly from its SU(1,1) dynamical symmetry.

7.3 All-creation and all-annihilation Hamiltonians

We next consider, as defined in Ref. [24], the all-annihilation $H_{aa}(t)$ and all-creation $H_{ac}(t)$ non-Hermitian Hamiltonians, given by

$$H_{aa}(t) = \omega(t) (a^{\dagger}a + 1/2) + \alpha(t)a^2,$$
 (79a)

$$H_{ac}(t) = \omega(t) \left(a^{\dagger} a + 1/2 \right) + \beta(t) a^{\dagger 2}.$$
(79b)

These peculiar Hamiltonians, which are extreme forms of the unbalanced Hamiltonian (60), follow when considering $\beta(t) = 0$ and $\alpha(t) = 0$, respectively. To compute their symmetry operators we follow exactly the same procedure presented in subsection 7.1. The same structure of the symmetry operator in Eq. (47) thus applies for these Hamiltonians. Considering a unitary $\Lambda(t)$, the Eqs. (68) simplifies, for the Hamiltonian $H_{aa}(t)$, to

$$\dot{\phi}_{aa} = \omega^*(t) - \omega(-t) + 4\alpha^*(t)\xi^*_{aa}(t)e^{2i\phi_{aa}(t)},$$
(80a)

$$\xi_{aa}(t) = \frac{\alpha(-t) - \alpha^*(t)e^{\alpha(t)}}{4i\operatorname{Im}\omega(-t)},$$
(80b)

whereas for $H_{ac}(t)$, we obtain

$$\dot{\phi}_{ac} = \omega^{*}(t) - \omega(-t) + 4\beta^{*}(t)\xi_{ac}(t)e^{-2i\phi_{ac}(t)},$$
(81a)

$$\xi_{ac}(t) = \frac{\beta(t)e^{2i\varphi_{ac}(t)} - \beta^*(-t)}{4i\operatorname{Im}\omega(-t)}.$$
(81b)



The nature of the Hamiltonian —following from the group algebra describing the amplification process— is then what defines its symmetry operator. When considering the all-creation and the all-annihilation linear Hamiltonians, derived from the TD linear Hamiltonian introduced above, it can be directly verified that we also have the same structure $I(t) = D(t)\mathcal{R}(t)\mathcal{T}$ for the symmetry operator.

Therefore, for the Heisenberg algebra of the linear amplification we have the symmetry operator $I(t) = \mathcal{D}(t)\mathcal{R}(t)\mathcal{T}$, whereas for the SU(1,1) algebra of the parametric amplification, we have $I(t) = S(t)\mathcal{R}(t)\mathcal{T}$. Both symmetry operators share the time reversal and rotation operators. However, as it is well-known from the amplification processes of the radiation field [48, 49], while the Heisenberg algebra generates displacements in phase space, the SU(1,1) produces squeezing.

7.4 From I(t) in Eq. (47) to \mathcal{PT}

As done for the case of a TD non-Hermitian linear Hamiltonian, when considering the constraints under which the Hamiltonian (60) is \mathcal{PT} -symmetric [$\omega^*(-t) = \omega(t)$, $\alpha^*(-t) = \alpha(t)$, and $\beta^*(-t) = \beta(t)$], the TI \mathcal{PT} operator can be directly recovered from I(t) in Eq. (47). Under these constraints and considering a unitary $\Lambda(t)$, the Eqs. (68) simplify to

$$\dot{\phi}(t) = \frac{i}{\operatorname{Im} \omega(-t)} \left\{ \alpha^{*}(t) [\alpha(t) - \beta^{*}(t)] (e^{2i\phi(t)} - 1) - \beta^{*}(t) [\alpha^{*}(t) - \beta(t)] (e^{-2i\phi(t)} - 1) \right\},$$
(82a)

$$\xi(t) = \frac{\alpha^{*}(t) - \beta(t)}{4i \operatorname{Im} \omega(-t)} \left(1 - e^{2i\phi(t)} \right).$$
(82b)

Assuming a TI $\phi = \phi_0 = (2n+1)\pi$, with $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, the Eq. (82a) is automatically satisfied and the Eq. (82b) leads to $\xi = 0$, thus avoiding undesirable constraints on the Hamiltonian parameters. The operator in Eq. (47) is then reduced to

$$I = e^{-i(2n+1)\pi a^{\dagger}a} \mathcal{T} = \mathcal{P}\mathcal{T}.$$
(83)

8 The TI non-Hermitian Hamiltonian of a cavity field under parametric amplification

Considering the TI non-Hermitian Hamiltonian

$$H = \omega \left(a^{\dagger} a + 1/2 \right) + \alpha a^2 + \beta a^{\dagger 2},$$
(84)

with complex TD parameters ω , α , and β , we require that $H^{\dagger} \neq H$, such that $\omega^* \neq \omega$ and/or $\alpha^* \neq \beta$. The \mathcal{PT} -symmetry requirement for this TI Hamiltonian imposes the more restrictive conditions $\omega^* = \omega$, $\alpha^* = \alpha$, and $\beta^* = \beta$.

8.1 The TI antilinear symmetry operator for the TI Hamiltonian

After computing the TD symmetry in Eq. (47), we assume that its TI equivalent has form I = SRT, with S being an antilinear operator. The condition for the Hamiltonian (84) to be

invariant under this TI symmetry operator, given by [I,H] = 0, provides us with the system

$$\omega - \omega^* \cos\left(4\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right) + \left[\alpha^* \sqrt{\xi^{-1}\zeta} e^{2i\phi} - \beta^* \sqrt{\xi\zeta^{-1}} e^{-2i\phi}\right] \sin\left(4\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right) = 0, \quad (85a)$$

$$\omega^* - \left[\alpha - \alpha^* e^{2i\phi(t)}\right] \sqrt{\zeta\xi^{-1} \cot\left(2\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right)} - \left[\alpha - \beta^* \xi \zeta^{-1} e^{-2i\phi}\right] \sqrt{\zeta\xi^{-1} \tan\left(2\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right)} = 0, \quad (85b)$$

$$\omega^* + \left\lfloor \beta - \beta^* e^{-2i\phi} \right\rfloor \sqrt{\xi\zeta^{-1}} \cot\left(2\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right) + \left\lfloor \beta - \alpha^* e^{2i\phi} \xi^{-1} \zeta e^{2i\phi} \right\rfloor \sqrt{\xi\zeta^{-1}} \tan\left(2\sqrt{\xi\zeta}\right) = 0, \quad (85c)$$

which, for an antiunitary S, i.e., $\zeta = -\xi^*$, simplifies to

$$\omega - \omega^* \cosh(4|\xi|) + i \left[\alpha^* e^{i\left(2\phi - \varphi_{\xi}\right)} - \beta^* e^{-i\left(2\phi - \varphi_{\xi}\right)} \right] \sinh(4|\xi|) = 0, \qquad (86a)$$

$$\omega - \left[\alpha^* - \alpha e^{-2i\phi}\right] e^{i\varphi_{\xi}} \coth\left(2|\xi|\right) + \left[\alpha^* + \beta e^{-2i\left(\phi + \varphi_{\xi}\right)}\right] e^{i\varphi_{\xi}} \tanh\left(2|\xi|\right) = 0, \quad (86b)$$

$$\omega + \left[\beta^* - \beta e^{2i\phi}\right] e^{-i\varphi_{\xi}} \coth\left(2|\xi|\right) - \left[\beta^* + \alpha e^{-2i\left(\phi - \varphi_{\xi}\right)}\right] e^{-i\varphi_{\xi}} \tanh\left(2|\xi|\right) = 0.$$
(86c)

Considering a real frequency ω and, as in the TD case, a small squeezing parameter, $|\xi| \ll 1$, to disregard its second order corrections, we obtain from the above equations the squeezing parameter

$$\xi = \frac{(\alpha - \beta^*) - (\alpha^* - \beta)e^{2i\phi}}{4\omega}, \qquad (87)$$

and the rotation angle

$$\phi = \frac{i}{2} \ln \frac{\alpha^* + \beta}{\alpha + \beta^*},\tag{88}$$

under the constraint $|\alpha|^2 + |\beta|^2 + 2\alpha\beta = 0$. From the polar forms $\alpha = |\alpha|e^{i\varphi_{\alpha}}$, $\beta = |\beta|e^{i\varphi_{\beta}}$ and $\xi = |\xi|e^{i\varphi_{\xi}}$, it follows that

$$|\xi| = \frac{|\alpha|\sin(\phi - \varphi_{\alpha}) - |\beta|\sin(\phi + \varphi_{\beta})}{2\omega},$$
(89a)

$$\varphi_{\xi} = \left(n + \frac{1}{2}\right)\pi - \phi \,. \tag{89b}$$

For the TI non-Hermitian Hamiltonian (84) we then have the TI antiunitary symmetry operator

$$I = e^{\xi a^2 - \xi^* a^{\dagger 2}} e^{-i\phi a^{\dagger} a} \mathcal{T},$$
(90)

defined by the parameters in Eqs. (87) and (88). For the case of a \mathcal{PT} -symmetric Hamiltonian, where α and β are real parameters, the rotation angle following from Eq. (88) is given by $\phi = (2n + 1)\pi$, which makes the squeezing degree null, $|\xi| = 0$, thus reducing the symmetry $I = S\mathcal{RT}$ to the \mathcal{PT} operator.

8.1.1 Bender-Berry-Mandilara

The validity of the relation $A^{2k} = 1$, with *k* odd [29], for the symmetry operator in Eq. (90) demands a little algebra. In fact, for the operator in Eq. (90) we obtain

$$I^{2} = e^{\xi a^{2} - \xi^{*} a^{\dagger 2}} e^{-i\phi a^{\dagger} a} e^{\xi^{*} a^{2} - \xi a^{\dagger 2}} e^{i\phi a^{\dagger} a} \mathcal{T}^{2}$$

= $e^{\xi a^{2} - \xi^{*} a^{\dagger 2}} e^{\xi^{*} e^{2i\phi} a^{2} - \xi e^{-2i\phi} a^{\dagger 2}} = 1,$ (91)

since it follows from Eqs. (89) that $\xi e^{-2i\phi} = -\xi^*$.

8.2 Dyson map and pseudo-Hermiticity

For the TI non-Hermitian Hamiltonian (84), we consider the TI Dyson map

$$\eta = \exp\left[\epsilon a^{\dagger}a + \gamma a^{2} + \gamma^{*} \left(a^{\dagger}\right)^{2}\right], \qquad (92)$$

again with $\theta^2 = \epsilon^2 - 4 |\gamma|^2 > 0$. From the transformation relations in Eq. (72) we obtain

$$h = \eta H \eta^{-1} = W \left(a^{\dagger} a + \frac{1}{2} \right) + U a^2 + V a^{\dagger 2}, \qquad (93)$$

with

$$W = \omega \cosh^2 \theta - \left[\omega \left(\epsilon^2 + 4\gamma\lambda\right) - 4(\alpha\lambda + \beta\gamma)\epsilon\right] \frac{\sinh^2 \theta}{\theta^2} - 2(\alpha\lambda - \beta\gamma)\frac{\sinh 2\theta}{\theta}, \quad (94a)$$

$$U = \alpha \cosh^2 \theta + \left[\alpha \epsilon^2 - 2(\omega \epsilon - 2\beta \gamma)\gamma\right] \frac{\sinh^2 \theta}{\theta^2} + (\omega \gamma - \alpha \epsilon) \frac{\sinh 2\theta}{\theta}, \qquad (94b)$$

$$V = \beta \cosh^2 \theta + \left[\beta \epsilon^2 - 2(\omega \epsilon - 2\alpha \lambda)\lambda\right] \frac{\sinh^2 \theta}{\theta^2} - (\omega \lambda - \epsilon\beta) \frac{\sinh 2\theta}{\theta}.$$
 (94c)

The Hermiticity condition $h = h^{\dagger}$ demands a real *W* and $U = V^*$, the former leading to the relation

$$\operatorname{Im}\left[\frac{\epsilon \tanh \theta}{\theta} \left(\alpha^* - \beta\right) z - \left(\alpha^* + \beta\right) z\right] = 0, \qquad (95)$$

where we have defined $z = 2\gamma/\epsilon = z_0 e^{i\varphi}$, with $\gamma = |\gamma| e^{i\varphi}$, such that $-1 \le z_0 \le 1$. Considering $\alpha = |\alpha| e^{i\varphi_{\alpha}}$ and $\beta = |\beta| e^{i\varphi_{\beta}}$, a particular solution for Eq. (95) follows from the choice of a real ω and $\varphi = \varphi_{\alpha} = n\pi - \varphi_{\beta}$ with an integer *n*, i.e.

$$\omega \in \mathbb{R}, \ \alpha = |\alpha| e^{i\varphi}, \ \beta = |\beta| e^{i(n\pi - \varphi)}.$$
(96)

The condition $U = V^*$ leads to the relation

$$\epsilon = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{1-z_0^2}} \tanh^{-1} \left[\frac{\left(|\alpha| - |\beta| e^{-in\pi} \right) \sqrt{1-z_0^2}}{|\alpha| + |\beta| e^{-in\pi} - \omega z_0} \right],$$
(97)

which imposes the restriction $z_{-} \le z_{0} \le z_{+}$, in place of $-1 \le z_{0} \le 1$, where

$$z_{\pm} = \frac{\left(\left|\alpha\right| + \left|\beta\right|e^{-in\pi}\right)\omega \pm \left(\left|\alpha\right| - \left|\beta\right|e^{-in\pi}\right)\Omega}{\omega^{2} + \left(\left|\alpha\right| - \left|\beta\right|e^{-in\pi}\right)^{2}}.$$
(98)

the frequency Ω being defined as $\Omega^2 = \omega^2 - 4 |\alpha\beta| e^{-in\pi}$, which must be a real parameter as well as z_{\pm} . Although we have a real Ω for an even *n*, for an odd *n* we must impose the additional constraint $\omega \ge 2\sqrt{|\alpha\beta|}$ on the Hamiltonian's parameters. For $\omega < 2\sqrt{|\alpha\beta|}$, the pseudo-Hermiticity relation does not apply to the transformed *h*.

Considering the pseudo-Hermiticity conditions in Eq. (96), we obtain from Eq. (89a) the squeezing degree

$$|\xi| = \frac{|\alpha| + (-1)^{n+1} |\beta|}{2\omega} \sin(\phi - \varphi_{\alpha}), \qquad (99)$$

showing that for $\phi = \varphi_{\alpha}$, the symmetry operator reduces to the product $I = \mathcal{RT}$, whereas for $\phi \neq \varphi_{\alpha}$ we still have $I = \mathcal{SRT}$, with the squeezing operator being defined by the squeezing degree in Eq. (99) and direction

$$\varphi_{\xi} = \left(m + \frac{1}{2}\right)\pi - \left(\varphi_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2i}\ln\left|\frac{\alpha}{\beta}\right|\right), \quad m \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(100)

8.3 Symmetry breaking

Considering the bosonic operators b and b^{\dagger} defined by the transformations $b = ua + va^{\dagger}$ and $b^{\dagger} = v^*a + u^*a^{\dagger}$, with $|u|^2 - |v|^2 = 1$ such that $[b, b^{\dagger}] = 1$, we can rewrite the Hamiltonian (84) in the form

$$H = \Omega\left(b^{\dagger}b + \frac{1}{2}\right),\tag{101}$$

as long as we consider the constraint $\Omega = \omega / [|v|^2 + |u|^2] = \alpha / uv^* = \beta / u^* v$, leading to the already defined frequency

$$\Omega = \sqrt{\omega^2 - 4\alpha\beta} \,. \tag{102}$$

To ensure the reality of the spectrum of the transformed *H* with a real frequency Ω , we derive from Eq. (102) the same conditions for the pseudo-Hermiticity of the TI Hamiltonian (84), given by Eq. (96). We stress that the parameters in Eq. (96) can also be derived from the symmetry condition [I,H] = 0 for a TI Hamiltonian, using the operator in Eq. (90), as done above.

There are two different regimes of eigenvalues following from the parameters given by Eq. (96). One for an odd integer *n*, leading to a real frequency Ω , and the other for an even *n*, where Ω is real only under the additional constraint $\omega \ge 2\sqrt{|\alpha\beta|}$. For $\omega < 2\sqrt{|\alpha\beta|}$ the symmetry is broken; the frequency is no longer real and the eigenvalues become complex conjugate pairs.

9 A connection between the symmetry and metric operators

If the symmetry operator stems from the group algebra of the Hamiltonian, the ansatz for the Dyson's map must also be guided by this group algebra, as discussed in Ref. [12] where a strategy for constructing the Dyson map is presented. It is then reasonable to assume that there must be a close connection between both of these operators: the symmetry and the Dyson map (or equivalently the metric operator).

In part I of this work we have derived the symmetry operator for the TD non-Hermitian linear Hamiltonian, which resulted in the form $I(t) = \mathcal{D}(t)\mathcal{R}(t)\mathcal{T}$, with $\mathcal{R}(t) = e^{-i\phi(t)a^{\dagger}a}$ being a unitary operator and $\mathcal{D}(t) = e^{\nu(t)a^{\dagger}+\lambda(t)a+\mu(t)}$ a unitary ($\lambda = -\nu^*$) or a Hermitian nonunitary operator ($\lambda = \nu^*$). The ansatz for the Dyson map we have used for the pseudo-Hermitization of this linear Hamiltonian, given by the Hermitian operator $\eta(t) = e^{\epsilon(t)a^{\dagger}a+\gamma(t)a+\gamma^*(t)a^{\dagger}}$, bears resemblance to the generalized displacement $\mathcal{D}(t)$. In fact, we could have considered for the Dyson map the nonunitary operator $\mathcal{D}(t)\mathcal{R}(t)$ instead of the $\eta(t)$, possibly at the expense of constraints on the non-Hermitian Hamiltonian's parameters. We could also have associated the linear part of the symmetry directly to the metric operator, i.e., $\rho(t) = \mathcal{D}(t)\mathcal{R}(t)$.

In the present work, we have obtained the symmetry operator $I(t) = S(t)\mathcal{R}(t)\mathcal{T}$, for the TD non-Hermitian quadratic Hamiltonian, with $\Lambda(t) = e^{\xi(t)a^2 + \zeta(t)a^{\dagger 2}}$, being a unitary ($\zeta = -\xi^*$) or nonunitary Hermitian operator ($\zeta = \xi^*$). The Dyson map we have used for the pseudo-Hermitization of our quadratic Hamiltonian, $\eta(t) = \exp[\epsilon(t)a^{\dagger}a + \gamma(t)a^2 + \gamma^*(t)(a^{\dagger})^2]$, also resembles the nonunitary $S(t)\mathcal{R}(t)$, which could be used for the Dyson map instead of $\eta(t)$. Alternatively, as anticipated above, we could also have proposed the relation $\rho(t) = S(t)\mathcal{R}(t)$.

Considering the TD non-Hermitian quadratic Hamiltonian and assuming $\eta(t) = S(t)\mathcal{R}(t)$, the above discussion leads us to propose the relation

$$I(t) = \eta(t)\mathcal{T}.$$
(103)

Sci Post

With the Dyson map

$$\eta(t) = \mathcal{S}(t)\mathcal{R}(t), \tag{104}$$

we obtain from Eq. (60) the transformed Hamiltonian

$$h = \tilde{W}\left(a^{\dagger}a + \frac{1}{2}\right) + \tilde{U}a^2 + \tilde{V}a^{\dagger 2}, \qquad (105)$$

with

$$\tilde{W} = \left(\dot{\phi} + \omega\right) \cos\left(4|\nu|\right) - \left[\alpha e^{-i(2\phi - \varphi_{\nu})} - \beta e^{+i(2\phi - \varphi_{\nu})}\right] \sin\left(4|\nu|\right), \tag{106a}$$

$$\tilde{U} = \frac{\phi + \omega}{2} \sin(4|\nu|) e^{-i\varphi_{\nu}(t)} + i\dot{\nu}^* + \alpha e^{-2i\phi} \cos^2(2|\nu|) + \beta e^{2i(\phi - \varphi_{\nu})} \sin^2(2|\nu|), \quad (106b)$$

$$\tilde{V} = -\frac{\phi + \omega}{2}\sin(4|\nu|)e^{i\varphi_{\nu}(t)} + i\dot{\nu} + \alpha e^{-2i(\phi - \varphi_{\nu})}\sin^2(2|\nu|) + \beta e^{2i\phi}\cos^2(2|\nu|).$$
(106c)

For the Hamiltonian (105) to be Hermitian, it follows the system

$$0 = |\omega| \sin \varphi_{\omega} + \left[+ |\alpha| \sin (2\phi - \varphi_{\nu} - \varphi_{\alpha}) + |\beta| \sin \left(2\phi - \varphi_{\nu} + \varphi_{\beta}\right) \right] \tan(4|\nu|), \quad (107a)$$

$$\dot{\varphi}_{\nu} = -\frac{\cos(4|\nu|)}{2|\nu|} \left[\left(\dot{\phi} + |\omega| \cos \varphi_{\omega} \right) \tan(4|\nu(t)|) + |\alpha| \cos(2\phi - \varphi_{\nu} - \varphi_{\alpha}) - |\beta| \cos\left(2\phi - \varphi_{\nu} + \varphi_{\beta}\right) \right], \quad (107b)$$

$$|\dot{\nu}| = \frac{1}{2} \left[|\alpha| \sin\left(2\phi - \varphi_{\nu} - \varphi_{\alpha}\right) - |\beta| \sin\left(2\phi - \varphi_{\nu} + \varphi_{\beta}\right) \right], \qquad (107c)$$

which, like that in Eq. (76), does not lead to constraints on the parameters of Hamiltonian (60). Therefore, the Dyson map (104) can perfectly be used as an alternative to the ansatz in Eq. (71), thus leading to the associated metric operator $\rho(t) = \mathcal{R}^{\dagger}(t)\mathcal{S}^{\dagger}(t)\mathcal{S}(t)\mathcal{R}(t)$.

When we consider Eq. (103) together with the relation $I(t) = \Xi^{-1}(t)\rho(t)$ derived above, we obtain $\eta(t) = \Xi^{-1}(t)\rho(t)\mathcal{T}$, and consequently

$$\Xi(t) = \rho(t) \mathcal{T} \eta^{-1}(t). \tag{108}$$

When we consider, however, the ansatz

$$I(t) = \mathcal{T}\eta(t), \tag{109}$$

as an alternative to Eq. (103), we get a simplest form for the $\Xi(t)$ -anti-pseudo-Hermitian operator, given by

$$\Xi(t) = \eta^{\dagger}(t)\mathcal{T}.$$
(110)

Therefore, after computing the TD symmetry operator through Eq. (9), we automatically derive the Dyson map from the symmetry-metric Eq. (103), and consequently the metric operator or the ρ -pseudo-Hermitian operator. Then, from Eq. (110), we derive the Ξ -antipseudo-Hermitian operators. In short, after computing the symmetry operator, all the other operators thus follow automatically.

We observe however that, from Eqs. (9) and (103), we directly derive an equation for the Dyson map, given by

$$i\frac{\partial\eta(t)}{\partial t} = \eta(t)\mathcal{T}H(t)\mathcal{T}^{-1} - H(-t)\eta(t).$$
(111)

From Eqs. (109) and (103), we obtain instead:

$$i\frac{\partial\eta(t)}{\partial t} = \mathcal{T}H(-t)\mathcal{T}^{-1}\eta(t) - \eta(t)H(t).$$
(112)

Eqs. (111) or (112) can be solved by applying the same reasoning used in Section 3 to compute the symmetry operator.

We finally note that the formal simplicity of \mathcal{PT} symmetry prevented us, so far, from exploring a relation between symmetry and metric as anticipated here. It is evident that our proposal for this relation was largely due to the complexity of the symmetry operators associated with the Hamiltonians discussed here. This fact should motivate us to persist in the investigation of symmetries that are more general than \mathcal{PT} , through the consideration of other Hamiltonians with different symmetry groups. We believe that we can further deepen our understanding of pseudo-Hermitian systems and even the symmetry-metric relation through this investigation.

10 Conclusions

In this work we have proposed a method for the derivation of general TD continuous symmetry operators for TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonians. Although our method applies indistinctly to linear or antilinear, unitary or nonunitary symmetries, we then assume an antilinear symmetry to retrieve the results by Mostafazadeh [4] and Bender-Berry-Mandilara [29] for the case of TI Hamiltonian and symmetry operators. In fact, assuming that the TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonian is simultaneously ρ -pseudo-Hermitian and Ξ -anti-pseudo-Hermitian, we derive the relation $I(t) = \Xi^{-1}(t)\rho(t)$ for our TD antilinear symmetry operator. From this relation we recover the Mostafazadeh's theorem, for TI Hamiltonian and symmetry operators, asserting that the pseudo-Hermiticity of a Hamiltonian implies the existence of an antilinear symmetry of the form $I = \Xi^{-1}\rho$. We also retrieve the Bender-Berry-Mandilara result that a non-Hermitian Hamiltonian presents a real spectrum when invariant under any antiunitary operator I satisfying $I^{2k} = 1$ with k odd.

Our method is also based on a proposal in Ref. [44], for the construction of Lewis & Riesenfeld TD nonlinear invariants, and we have applied it for the case of TD non-Hermitian linear and quadratic Hamiltonians modelling a cavity field under linear and parametric amplifications. We have thus derived TD continuous symmetry operators, given in Eqs. (30) and (70), for the linear and quadratic cases respectively. These operators describe the successive actions of a time-reversal operator \mathcal{T} , a TD rotation and a generalized displacement or squeezing in phase space, respectively. This TD continuous symmetry automatically reduces to the TI discrete \mathcal{PT} operator when we restrict our TD Hamiltonian to be \mathcal{PT} -symmetrical.

After computing the symmetry operators we then consider the pseudo-Hermitization of our TD linear and quadratic Hamiltonians. For the case of the TI equivalents of our non-Hermitian Hamiltonians, the stringent invariance requirement [I,H] = 0, imposes TI continuous symmetry operators which are very particular case of the TD symmetry operators in Eq. (30) and (70), even though they are generalizations of the discrete parity and time-reversal transformation. The TI non-Hermitian Hamiltonians and the associated symmetry operators are more vulnerable, as expected, than their general TD equivalents to the constraints imposed by the pseudo-Hermiticity relation.

The TD general symmetries in Eq. (30) strongly resemble the evolution operator for the Hermitized counterparts of our TD non-Hermitian linear and quadratic Hamiltonians, except for the time-reversal operation [25–27,45,46]. If applied to a given state of these Hermitized counterparts of our Hamiltonians, these peculiar symmetry operators cause the probability distribution to trace an upward spiral in phase space, with TD rotation and translation rates, for the linear case, or translation plus squeezing rates for the quadratic case.

We have also computed the TD symmetry operators for the all-creation and all-annihilation Hamiltonians, in Eqs. (79a) and (79b), which are extreme cases of the parametric amplification in Eq. (60), where only creation or annihilation quadratic operators take place in the

Sci Post

interaction picture. We verify, as expected, that the TD symmetry operators for these peculiar Hamiltonians have the same form as the symmetry operator for our non-Hermitian parametric amplification. The group algebra describing the Hamiltonian is what defines its symmetry operator.

From the results we have derived for the linear and the quadratic non-Hermitian Hamiltonians, we have proposed a relation between the symmetry and the metric operators which enables us to automatically derive the metric operator $\rho(t)$. In fact, from the symmetry of the problem, we are able to derive both the ρ -pseudo-Hermitian and the Ξ -anti-pseudo-Hermitian operators, as introduced by Mostafazadeh in Ref. [4]. In order to consolidate the symmetrymetric relation which we have derived, our next step is to approach other Hamiltonians, associated with different groups of symmetries.

Therefore, in the present work we have explored more general symmetries than parity and time-reversal for TD non-Hermitian Hamiltonians. The TD continuous symmetry operators we have derived follow evidently from the symmetry group of the Hamiltonians we have studied, and the symmetry-metric relation we have proposed will certainly act as a guide for the study of pseudo-Hermitian quantum mechanics for symmetry groups far broader than \mathcal{PT} .

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank CAPES, CNPq, and INCT-IQ, for support.

References

- C. M. Bender and S. Boettcher, *Real spectra in non-Hermitian Hamiltonians having PT symmetry*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **80**, 5243 (1998), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.80.5243.
- [2] A. Mostafazadeh, Pseudo-Hermiticity versus PT symmetry I: The necessary condition for the reality of the spectrum of a non-Hermitian Hamiltonian, J. Math. Phys. 43, 205 (2002), doi:10.1063/1.1418246.
- [3] A. Mostafazadeh, Pseudo-Hermiticity versus PT-symmetry II. A complete characterization of non-Hermitian Hamiltonians with a real spectrum, J. Math. Phys. 43, 2814 (2002), doi:10.1063/1.1461427.
- [4] A. Mostafazadeh, Pseudo-Hermiticity versus PT-symmetry III: Equivalence of pseudo-Hermiticity and the presence of antilinear symmetries, J. Math. Phys. 43, 3944 (2002), doi:10.1063/1.1489072.
- [5] M. Chitsazi, H. Li, F. M. Ellis and T. Kottos, *Experimental realization of Floquet PT-symmetric systems*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **119**, 093901 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.119.093901.
- [6] T. Biesenthal, M. Kremer, M. Heinrich and A. Szameit, *Experimental realization of PT-symmetric flat bands*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **123**, 183601 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.123.183601.
- [7] Z. Xiao, H. Li, T. Kottos and A. Alù, Enhanced sensing and bondegraded thermal noise performance based on *PT*-symmetric electronic circuits with a sixth-order exceptional point, Phys. Rev. Lett. **123**, 213901 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.123.213901.

- [8] A. Y. Song et al., *PT*-symmetric topological edge-gain effect, Phys. Rev. Lett. **125**, 033603 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.125.033603.
- [9] O. S. Duarte, F. S. Luiz and M. H. Y. Moussa, *Linear response theory for a pseudo-Hermitian system-reservoir interaction*, Europhys. Lett. **121**, 50006 (2018), doi:10.1209/0295-5075/121/50006.
- [10] J. F. G. dos Santos, F. S. Luiz, O. S. Duarte and M. H. Y. Moussa, Non-Hermitian noncommutative quantum mechanics, Eur. Phys. J. Plus 134, 332 (2019), doi:10.1140/epjp/i2019-12738-3.
- [11] A. Fring and M. H. Y. Moussa, Unitary quantum evolution for time-dependent quasi-Hermitian systems with nonobservable Hamiltonians, Phys. Rev. A 93, 042114 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.93.042114.
- [12] A. Fring and M. H. Y. Moussa, Non-Hermitian Swanson model with a time-dependent metric, Phys. Rev. A 94, 042128 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.94.042128.
- [13] M. Znojil, Time-dependent version of crypto-Hermitian quantum theory, Phys. Rev. D 78, 085003 (2008), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.78.085003.
- [14] J. Gong and Q.-H. Wang, *Time-dependent PT-symmetric quantum mechanics*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 46, 485302 (2013), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/46/48/485302.
- [15] A. Mostafazadeh, Time-dependent Hilbert spaces, geometric phases, and general covariance in quantum mechanics, Phys. Lett. A 320, 375 (2004), doi:10.1016/j.physleta.2003.12.008.
- [16] C. Figueira de Morisson Faria and A. Fring, *Time evolution of non-Hermitian Hamiltonian systems*, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. **39**, 9269 (2006), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/39/29/018.
- [17] A. Mostafazadeh, Time-dependent pseudo-Hermitian Hamiltonians defining a unitary quantum system and uniqueness of the metric operator, Phys. Lett. B 650, 208 (2007), doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2007.04.064.
- [18] J. Gong and Q.-H. Wang, *Time-dependent PT-symmetric quantum mechanics*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 46, 485302 (2013), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/46/48/485302.
- [19] A. Fring and T. Frith, Mending the broken PT-regime via an explicit time-dependent Dyson map, Phys. Lett. A 381, 2318 (2017), doi:10.1016/j.physleta.2017.05.041.
- [20] M. Maamache, O. K. Djeghiour, N. Mana and W. Koussa, Pseudo-invariants theory and real phases for systems with non-Hermitian time-dependent Hamiltonians, Eur. Phys. J. Plus 132, 383 (2017), doi:10.1140/epjp/i2017-11678-2.
- [21] A. Fring and T. Frith, *Eternal life of entropy in non-Hermitian quantum systems*, Phys. Rev. A **100**, 010102 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.100.010102.
- [22] B. Khantoul, A. Bounames and M. Maamache, On the invariant method for the time-dependent non-Hermitian Hamiltonians, Eur. Phys. J. Plus 132, 258 (2017), doi:10.1140/epjp/i2017-11524-7.
- [23] N. Mana, O. Zaidi and M. Maamache, *Time-dependent pseudo-bosonic coherent states*, J. Math. Phys. 61, 102103 (2020), doi:10.1063/5.0013723.

- [24] F. S. Luiz, M. A. de Ponte and M. H. Y. Moussa, Unitarity of the time-evolution and observability of non-Hermitian Hamiltonians for time-dependent Dyson maps, Phys. Scr. 95, 065211 (2020), doi:10.1088/1402-4896/ab80e5.
- [25] M. A. de Ponte, F. S. Luiz, O. S. Duarte and M. H. Y. Moussa, All-creation and all-annihilation time-dependent *PT*-symmetric bosonic Hamiltonians: An infinite squeezing degree at a finite time, Phys. Rev. A 100, 012128 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.100.012128.
- [26] R. A. Dourado, M. A. de Ponte, F. S. Luiz, O. S. Duarte and M. H. Y. Moussa, Erratum: All-creation and all-annihilation time-dependent *PT*-symmetric bosonic Hamiltonians: An infinite squeezing degree at a finite time, Phys. Rev. A 102, 049903 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.102.049903.
- [27] R. A. Dourado, M. A. de Ponte and M. H. Y. Moussa, A time-dependent pseudo-Hermitian Hamiltonian for a cavity mode with pure imaginary frequency, Phys. A: Stat. Mech. Appl. 581, 126195 (2021), doi:10.1016/j.physa.2021.126195.
- [28] D. Cius, F. M. Andrade, A. S. M. de Castro and M. H. Y. Moussa, *Enhancement of photon creation through the pseudo-Hermitian dynamical Casimir effect*, Phys. A: Stat. Mech. Appl. 593, 126945 (2022), doi:10.1016/j.physa.2022.126945.
- [29] C. M. Bender, M. V. Berry and A. Mandilara, *Generalized PT symmetry and real spectra*, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 35, L467 (2002), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/35/31/101.
- [30] M.-A. Miri, M. Heinrich and D. N. Christodoulides, Beyond PT-symmetry: SUSY-mediated real spectra in complex refractive index landscapes, CLEO: 2014, doi:10.1364/CLEO_QELS.2014.FM1D.1.
- [31] S. Droulias, I. Katsantonis, M. Kafesaki, C. M. Soukoulis and E. N. Economou, *Chiral metamaterials with PT symmetry and beyond*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **122**, 213201 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.122.213201.
- [32] S. Haroche, Nobel Lecture: Controlling photons in a box and exploring the quantum to classical boundary, Rev. Mod. Phys. 85, 1083 (2013), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.85.1083.
- [33] D. J. Wineland, Nobel Lecture: Superposition, entanglement, and raising Schrödinger's cat, Rev. Mod. Phys. 85, 1103 (2013), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.85.1103.
- [34] A. J. Leggett, Bose-Einstein condensation in the alkali gases: Some fundamental concepts, Rev. Mod. Phys. 73, 307 (2001), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.73.307.
- [35] A. J. Leggett, Erratum: Bose-Einstein condensation in the alkali gases: Some fundamental concepts, Rev. Mod. Phys. 75, 1083 (2003), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.75.1083.
- [36] P. W. Milonni, The quantum vacuum: An introduction to quantum electrodynamics, Academic Press, Cambridge, UK, ISBN 9780080571492 (1994), doi:10.1016/C2009-0-21295-5.
- [37] K. A. Milton, The Casimir effect: Physical manifestations of zeropoint energy, Am. J. Phys. 71, 93 (2002), doi:doi.org/10.1119/1.1522701.
- [38] L. M. Woods, D. A. R. Dalvit, A. Tkatchenko, P. Rodriguez-Lopez, A. W. Rodriguez and R. Podgornik, *Materials perspective on Casimir and van der Waals interactions*, Rev. Mod. Phys. 88, 045003 (2016), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.88.045003.

- [39] V. Dodonov, *Fifty years of the dynamical Casimir effect*, Physics **2**, 67 (2020), doi:10.3390/physics2010007.
- [40] V. V. Dodonov, The dynamical Casimir effect and resonance frequency shifts in cavities with thin photo-excited semiconductor layers, Phys. Scr. T135, 014014 (2009), doi:10.1088/0031-8949/2009/T135/014014.
- [41] J. I. Cirac, M. Lewenstein, K. Mølmer and P. Zoller, Quantum superposition states of Bose-Einstein condensates, Phys. Rev. A 57, 1208 (1998), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.57.1208.
- [42] T. Zibold, E. Nicklas, C. Gross and M. K. Oberthaler, Classical bifurcation at the transition from Rabi to Josephson dynamics, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, 204101 (2010), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.105.204101.
- [43] H. R. Lewis and W. B. Riesenfeld, An exact quantum theory of the time-dependent harmonic oscillator and of a charged particle in a time-dependent electromagnetic field, J. Math. Phys. 10, 1458 (1969), doi:10.1063/1.1664991.
- [44] M. A. de Ponte, P. M. Cônsoli and M. H. Y. Moussa, Method for the construction of the Lewis-Riesenfeld time-dependent invariants and their eigenvalue equations, Phys. Rev. A 98, 032102 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.98.032102.
- [45] B. Baseia, S. S. Mizrahi and M. H. Y. Moussa, Generation of squeezing for a charged oscillator and for a charged particle in a time-dependent electromagnetic field, Phys. Rev. A 46, 5885 (1992), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.46.5885.
- S. S. Mizrahi, M. H. Y. Moussa and B. Baseia, *The quadratic time-dependent Hamiltonian:* Evolution operator, squeezing regions in phase space and trajectories, Int. J. Mod. Phys. B 08, 1563 (1994), doi:10.1142/S0217979294000671.
- [47] R. M. Wilcox, Exponential operators and parameter differentiation in quantum physics, J. Math. Phys. 8, 962 (1967), doi:10.1063/1.1705306.
- [48] M. O. Scully and M. S. Zubairy, *Quantum optics*, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, ISBN 9783540285748 (2008), doi:10.1007/978-3-540-28574-8.
- [49] M. O. Scully and M. S. Zubairy, *Quantum optics*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, ISBN 9780511813993 (1997), doi:10.1017/CBO9780511813993.